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PREFACE





 




CONSCIOUS

of its deficiencies, the editor presents this result of his labors to his

fellow townsmen. Although the work is largely a compilation of facts and

figures touching the history of Georgia's metropolis from its founding to this

good year, and no special merit of originality is claimed for it, the reader

will find much in these pages as is not elsewhere easily accessible in printed

form — matter authentic and valuable for reference. Particularly is this true

of the war history recorded with great fidelity and no little detail in the

first volume. The facts therein contained were gathered from original sources —

Federal and Confederate — mostly direct from field orders, reports and

correspondence. The task involved a vast deal of research and reading, but the

editor feels compensated by the belief that a fuller or more reliable narrative

of the famous "Atlanta Campaign," from Dalton to Jonesboro, was never

written.




The

second volume, which deals with post-bellum and modern Atlanta, will, we

believe, be found to be brought down to date in preserving a record of the

city's upbuilding and remarkable progress. The past decade has completely

metamorphosed Atlanta physically. Her rehabilitation after the ruthless legions

of Sherman passed through her ashes to the sea was not more magical, if we may

use the word, than has been her rapid transformation in this latter conquest of

peace. It is surprising, at first blush, but nearly all of the better buildings

of Atlanta, business and residential, have been constructed within less than

the past ten years, and this means the practical rebuilding of the city and its

wide expansion in that short space of time. It goes without saying that, under

such progressive conditions, Atlanta has been making history very fast of late.




The

enterprise of the publishers in the way of handsomely illustrating Atlanta of today,

will, we are sure, be appreciated by subscribers to these volumes. Many of the

views are the first and exclusive, while some familiar ones are seen from a new

viewpoint.




We

cannot close these few prefatory words without acknowledging with sincere

appreciation our indebtedness to Col. E. Y. Clarke and Mr. Wallace Putnam Reed,

distinguished pathfinders and record keepers of Atlanta's short but wonderful

annals. Acknowledgments are also made for valuable assistance in the work of

compiling these volumes to Mr. Lucian L. Knight, literary editor, and Frank L.

Fleming, assistant city editor of the Atlanta Constitution.




Thomas

H. Martin. Atlanta, October, 1902.


















 




 




CHAPTER 1. WHEN THERE WAS NO ATLANTA




 




A city

whose non-existence can be remembered by a man who has only reached the

psalmist's allotted span of life is entitled to the designation of new,

especially in a section of the country first to be explored by the Spaniard and

which boasts of the oldest town in North America. Savannah, rich and proud of

her shipping, a miniature Venice, ambitious of international trade

exploitation, was one of the growing cities of the thirteen colonies when the

region around Atlanta was a howling wilderness, unpenetrated by a Daniel Boone.

Augusta, a bustling cotton mart and the outlet of a long-distance overland

trade, had been incorporated for a century when the first settler's cabin

reared its rude walls on the site of Atlanta. Other leading cities of Georgia

had railroad connections and for a generation or more had enjoyed a wide

commercial intercourse when the magic word Atlanta first appeared on the map of

the old commonwealth. Indeed, the metropolis of the Southeast may truthfully be

said to be a post-bellum product, for, search through its length and breadth,

and you will with difficulty find a landmark that recalls so recent and

momentous an era of history as the civil war — the bloody cradle in which the

infancy of Atlanta was rocked. This, anywhere but in the West, is anomalous.

Many of the booming Western cities are older than the South's most progressive

and quickly growing city. Atlanta is new. The hope of youth is in her heart and

the suppleness of youth is in her limbs. She is the civic personification of

strength and promise. Her glories are not reminiscences. Her life is all before

her, and her achievement but an earnest of what she will do.




It is

appropriate, in setting about the task of attempting to trace the growth and

chronicle the annals of so remarkable a city to look somewhat into the

environing conditions antedating its birth. In these conditions, themselves

anomalous, will be found the reason of Atlanta's comparative newness. When the

coast region and low lands of the state were thickly settled, and, in some

respects, already effete, the region now immediately tributary to Atlanta — the

whole of northwest Georgia, in fact — was a great Indian reservation, to enter

which was legally "intrusion," punishable by lines and imprisonment.

The Cherokees, the most intelligent and powerful of all the aboriginal tribes,

occupied the primeval forests of this half-explored hill country and carried

on, in a primitive way, their agriculture and domestic industries. They were

not savages, by any means, in the generally accepted view of the Indian. They

were not there by sufferance, or as buffalo in a national park, to satisfy a

sentimental governmental sense of equity. They owned these lands and had

established upon them comfortable, though humble, homes, with occasional

villages which supported schools and churches. Since the landing of Oglethorpe

they had been the object of the religious solicitude of the missionaries, and

may be said to have been quite effectually christianized and civilized.

Moreover, they preserved, by virtue of their treaty rights with the general

government, a kind of political autonomy that exempted them from amenability to

the state laws and left them free to carry on a queer mixture of civil and

tribal government. They had the proud characteristics of their race in a

superlative degree and were extremely jealous of white encroachment. During

those days they amalgamated little with the Caucasian and insisted on their

treaty guarantee of social isolation. Every attempt on the part of the

"boomers" of that time to break down their Chinese wall of

exclusiveness was met with a rude diplomacy in the committee rooms and

departments at Washington, creditable to the Cherokee's reputation for

statesmanship. They had strong leaders — such men as John Ross and Elias

Boudinot — and as the cordon of civilization drew tighter about them their

stubborn resistance to the attempt to make them take "the white man's

path" was ready for any lengths of patriotic heroism.




The

state of Georgia, during the first quarter of the century, had resorted to

every expedient to crowd the Cherokees across its western borders. At first it

was successful in obtaining possession of much of their lands through the

William Penn policy of "swapping," but in time the Indians came to

set the true value upon what was left of their broad acres, and further cessions

by one-sided purchase were no longer possible. In northwest Georgia, the tribe

made its last stand for a home, begirt by pioneer settlers. The state was

determined to oust the unwelcome red men, and, it is easy to believe, prepared

to make any means justify the end. The history of the banishment of these

Indians from the state is as pathetic as was the exile of the Acadians. The

conflict of the laws of the Cherokee Nation and those of Georgia was seized

upon by the latter as the easiest method of weakening the tribe's hold on

congress. The Georgia delegation in the national legislature began a systematic

campaign of dispossession. On the floor and in cloakroom and lobby persistent

arguments were advanced and schemes proposed to accomplish the difficult result.

The Indians, in an ugly mood, had occasion to resist with force repeated

attempts on the part of determined white men to invade their lands. The state

of Georgia, restive under the denial of its sovereignty within its own borders

on the part of the United States, which the latter's adherence to the Cherokee

treaties amounted to, threatened to ignore federal authority to the extent of

treating the tribe as amenable to the state jurisdiction, and there were

clashes of authority with the view of making test cases of the questions at

issue. Indeed, the state legislature did embrace the tribe within the scope of

its criminal jurisdiction, notwithstanding the assumption by the central

government of the sole right to exercise authority in all matters affecting the

Indians, collectively or individually. The tribe had its own legislative

council and machinery of local government, modeled, in the main, after white

administration, and the supervisory office of the powers at Washington was

nominal, except in extraordinary emergencies. The Indians punished their own

criminals, and cases involving offenses between the races were adjudicated by

federal courts. The United States were pledged to exclude from the Cherokee

reservation all white people who had not been permitted to enter by permission

of the tribal council. The triangular conflict of authority extended through

several years, becoming more aggravated each year, until, to make a long story

short, Georgia succeeded in inducing congress to pass a law providing for the

emigration of the tribe in a body to the lands set apart for them in the Indian

Territory. The state was given authority to assume its long-deferred

jurisdiction over the Cherokee territory, and. upon the removal of the Indians,

to dispose of the vacated lands to settlers. This was in 1827.




But a

few hundred of the 15,000 Cherokees obeyed the mandate of removal. Chief Ross

refused to acknowledge the legality of the proposed procedure and was backed in

his recalcitration by the council and head men. For four years the tribe

remained upon the old reservation in quiet defiance of nation and state, the

white usurpers fearing to precipitate an Indian war by taking decisive

measures. It was known that the young braves were eager to resist the

abandonment of their homes with arms in their hands. The wary old statesmen of

the tribe filibustered with the Indian department and tried to entangle the

situation with red tape. A case was brought by Chief Ross, for his people, in

the supreme court of the United States, praying for an injunction to prevent

the state of Georgia from exercising jurisdiction over a Cherokee criminal

whose offense had theretofore been cognizable in the tribal courts. The supreme

court ruled in favor of the Indians, and the effect of the ruling was to

prevent the state from executing its laws within the territory occupied by the

Cherokees. This brought matters to a focus. The legislature of 1831 passed a

bill to survey the lands of the Cherokee Nation, and Governor Lumpkin a little

later ordered the survey to be made, but it was the purpose of the state to

take no steps toward taking possession of the lands until a reasonable time had

elapsed, the Washington authorities promising to see that the Indians left

peaceably. Georgia also passed a law requiring all white men resident in the

Cherokee Nation by consent of the tribe to take the oath of allegiance to the

state. The penalty of non-compliance was a minimum term of four years in the

penitentiary at hard labor. The latter law further complicated and aggravated

the dangerous situation, and, with the decision of the supreme court, raised

the direct issue of "state's rights" with the Washington government.

Some of the white missionaries laboring among the Indians, northerners for the

most part, ignored the new law. Two of them, by name Worcester and Butler, were

arrested by state officers, and upon conviction in a state court, sentenced to

long terms in the penitentiary, in spite of the fact that the United States

supreme court had issued a mandate requiring their release. These unfortunate

missionaries remained in prison a couple of years, obtaining their freedom,

after the exertion of much influence throughout the state in their behalf,

through the governor's pardon.




The

Indians showing no disposition to obey the "Great Father at

Washington," Georgia "took the bull by the horns" and formally

organized ten counties in the lands embraced by the Cherokee Nation and

established a lottery for the disposition of the allotted claims to settlers.

By this time, it being evident that emigration would be forced upon them, even

at the point of the bayonet, the Cherokees had become divided among themselves

and there was a strong pro-emigration party led by John Ridge, who held that

the tribe would fare infinitely better by obeying the power of the government

and obtain beneficial concessions. Chief Ross held out doggedly against the

proposition, contending for $20,000,000 and the settlement of impossible

claims. In 1835 the two factions were represented in the Washington lobby by

strong delegations headed by these opposing leaders, and the whole question was

reopened in congress. Much interest was aroused in behalf of the Indians all

over the country, particularly in religious circles. The South, then dominant

in Washington, supported the contention of Georgia, probably largely because of

the issue of state sovereignty raised, and the Ross party returned to the

reservation hopeless. Feuds broke out among the Indians and killings resulted

from their differing opinions. In another year, the Ridge party had won a

majority of the tribe to its side, and a final treaty was ratified. Under this

treaty the Indians proposed to move peaceably to their new homes beyond the

Mississippi, under the direction of agents of the government, relinquishing

their lands for $5,000,000, to be held in trust by the United States. Their new

lands were to contain some $7,000,000 acres, with an unrestricted outlet to the

great western plains, to be theirs "so long as grass grows and water

runs." The treaty was signed by Andrew Jackson, president of the United

States, and up to a few years ago, when the descendants of these same Indians

were forced to consent to take their allotments and dispose of their surplus

lands to Uncle Sam, they regarded this treaty as their magna charta and swore

by it. It was further stipulated that their new home should never be included

within the bounds of any state or territory, without their consent; that the

government would protect them from white intrusion, pay them certain sums

annually for the support of their schools, etc. The government agreed to settle

a mass of old claims, pay a number of influential Indians pensions, and

provided for the subsistence of the tribe for a year, during the removal, which

was to be made two years from the time the treaty was signed.




As the

date set for the hegira approached — May 24, 1838 — it was generally believed

that trouble was in store and that a large part of the tribe would have to be

forcibly evicted. The Ross partisans were making "war medicine," it

was said, and intended to defend their homes with their lives. Two or three

volunteer companies were raised among the near-by settlers to be in readiness

for an outbreak' at any time, and the governor ordered detachments of militia

to points close to the reservation. The morning of the eventful day dawned with

no signs of preparations having been made on the part of the mass of the

Indians, but with plenty of hostile signs. General W infield Scott, of the war

department, had kept in touch with the situation and requested the state to

furnish two regiments for the emergency. This was promptly done. General

Charles Floyd commanding. Early on the morning of the 24th the military moved

upon the reservation, five companies under Captains Stell, Daniel, Bowman,

Hamilton and Ellis proceeding to Sixes Town in Cherokee county; two companies

under Captains Story and Campbell to Rome: two companies under Captains Horton

and Brewster to Fort Gilmer, and Captain Vincent's company to Cedartown.




Contrary

to expectations, there was no trouble, but the wholesale eviction of some

15.000 home-loving Indians was little the less lamentable. Every Indian cabin

was entered by the soldiery and the inmates collected in squads and hustled to

guarded camps. The state officials protested that this work was done humanely,

and without resorting to violent force, but to this day the Cherokees preserve

a tradition of ruthless cruelty connected with their enforced removal of more

than three score years ago, which has strengthened their deep-seated race

hatred. It was fortunate for the state of Georgia that decisive action was

taken by the local authorities, for toward the close of his administration it

is said that Jackson was inclined to reverse his Indian policy to please the

northern sentimentalists, and Governor Gilmer, then the occupant of Georgia's

executive chair, says in his memoirs that Van Buren, who had succeeded to the

presidency, was closeted with the lobbyists of the Ross party and had committed

himself to a let-alone policy at the very time the Georgia militia was

successfully prosecuting the eviction. On June 3, the entire tribe was started

for Ross' landing, and by the end of the month several thousand had begun the

westward march. It was feared, however, that the heat of midsummer would result

in an undue mortality among the emigrants, and word came from Washington that

the remainder would not be allowed to move before fall. Accordingly the bulk of

the Indians remained in camp until September. It is doubtful if the

postponement was in the interest of humanity, for the last half of the journey

was through the dead of winter. Hundreds are said to have died of pneumonia and

exposure, while small-pox carried away many more. Some idea of the severe

sufferings of these Indians can be formed by the bare statement that fully four

thousand perished on the march— one-fourth of the entire number. With few

exceptions the Cherokees walked the six or seven hundred miles that intervened

between their old and new reservation, and their progress was necessarily very

slow. Epidemics made long stops necessary, and though the federal government

had made abundant provision for their sustenance en route, it was charged that

the contractors and agents stinted and made inferior their food supply. Old

Indians now residing on the western reservation still speak mysteriously of the

mysterious deaths on that historic march. There can be no doubt but that not a

few Indians fell victims to the vendetta that the Ross-Ridge feud engendered,

while making the journey, some of them, it was suspected, from poison. In less

than a year after they had left Georgia, Major Ridge, his son, John Ridge, and

Elias Boudinot were assassinated. Similar crimes continued for more than a

generation among the Cherokees as the result of their exile from Georgia. The

victims were those who had taken an active part in negotiating the removal treaty.




At this

day it is difficult to appreciate the importance to Georgia of the Indian

problem then claiming her best statesmanship. The state was upon the edge of

the frontier and more or less annoyed by Indian depredations. Even after the

Cherokee removal the state found it necessary to send a military expedition to

the swamp region in the south to drive marauding Creeks across the line. But,

undoubtedly, the principal reasons for desiring to be rid of the Cherokees were

because the tribe assumed to maintain an alien sovereignty and fee ownership of

a considerable part of the state's territory, and because the Cherokee country

was known to be rich in gold. The Cherokees claimed their title from the

Creeks, who had early in the century occupied northwest Georgia. Tradition has

it that the land was lost by the latter tribe as the prize at stake in a ball

game played between the skillfullest warriors of the two tribes. This great

ball game was said to have occurred sometime between 1816 and 1820. In his

admirable book of reminiscences, "The Georgians," Governor George R.

Gilmer throws a flood of light on the "inside facts" connected with

the whole Cherokee imbroglio. While the author does not write with the

impartiality supposed to belong to the historian, he presents both sides of the

controversy clearly enough to enable readers at this late day to form correct

conclusions. The state denied the Cherokee title, which the general government

sustained. At that time there was a great hue and cry being raised by the

citizens of those states that were well rid of Poor Lo against the government's

"unchristian" Indian policy. In the north congressmen made their

canvass on a platform pledged to the protection of "Indian rights,"

and the church denominations of that section were strongly represented in the

Washington lobby fighting for what they considered a humanitarian cause.

Indeed, the Georgia Indian question was a factor in the contest for the

presidency between Adams and Jackson, the former standing as the Indian's

friend. Contemporary writers assert that Adams had the better of his opponent

on this question, so far as the majority sentiment was concerned, and that

Jackson would have lost the race in consequence of what was regarded as his

anti-Indian views, had not his military record been so glorious. Moreover, as

has been shown, the jealousy of a southern state over its disputed sovereignty

was a sharp issue. At several stages of the long controversy the troops of the

United States and the militia of the state of Georgia were on the point of a

collision. Colonel Harden, who had entered the disputed territory at the head

of the Hall county militia to expel gold-seekers, was placed under arrest by a

military officer of the United States and his command not allowed to execute

its commission. Then, too, the course of the missionaries, Worcester and

Butler, in making a "stage play" of martyrdom for the benefit of the

northern church people, was a most aggravating incident. They claimed federal

protection on the ground that they were employees of the government. Governor

Gilmer in his book speaks with much bitterness of the sectional and religious

prejudice that the missionaries settled among the Cherokees were inciting, and

in his correspondence with the federal authorities makes clear the danger of a

serious breach between the state and national governments. It was not until

1830 that congress, by the narrow margin of five votes, passed a bill

authorizing the president to exchange with any Indian tribe lands of the United

States west of the Mississippi river for lands occupied by them in any state or

territory. The methods by which the "consent" of the Cherokees was

obtained to their banishment will continue to remain unwritten history. This

law freed Georgia forever of their obnoxious presence, though not until eight

years after its passage.




Governor

Gilmer had a very poor opinion of the "civilization" of these Indians

that gave him so much official trouble. He thought them incorrigible savages,

brutish as the beasts of the field. Like many of our modern authorities on the

Indian question, he held that their only salvation lay in amalgamation with the

whites, and he makes no disguise of his lack of respect for a white man who

would make himself a personal factor in thus solving the problem. He

stigmatized the wealthy half-breeds who owned slaves, cultivated large farms

and kept ferries and taverns as social renegades, and declared many of them

were refugees from justice. It was this element, to which Chief Ross and the

ringleading mischief-makers belonged, that influenced the genuine Indians to

oppose the wishes of the Federal government and defy the authority of the

state. It will be remembered as an incident of those troublous times that in

the late winter of 1830 a party of armed and painted Cherokees raided white

settlements within the disputed territory and drove the settlers from their

cabins while the ground was covered with snow and sleet, burning the houses and

farm improvements. This outrage sealed the doom of the tribe, so far as

retaining a home in Georgia was concerned. In closing this chapter, which, it

will presently be seen, deals with a phase of Georgia history that directly

concerns the foundation and early progress of Atlanta, it is interesting to

note that more than sixty years after the Cherokees sought a new home in the

West, they are confronted with almost identically the same, to them, dangers,

that they abandoned Georgia to escape. The United States, contrary to the

letter and spirit of the treaty of 1836, is about to divest the tribe of

independent self-government, change its ancient system of land tenure, make

American citizens of the Indians, and include their extinguished reservation

within the boundaries of a state or territory of the union. Of course, as in

the Georgia case, the Cherokees have deemed it the part of wisdom to

"consent" to this.


















 




 




CHAPTER II. NORTHWEST GEORGIA SETTLERS




 




To

understand the spirit characteristic of Atlanta since her foundation — the

spirit of pluck and push — one must take into consideration the peculiar

character of the pioneers who made the country that made Atlanta. In doing so

one cannot but be struck by the analogy of her history with that of the average

Western town. While it is true that the portion of DeKalb county which included

Atlanta the first few years of her history was outside the disputed Cherokee

territory, it was but a few miles from the Indian border — so close that some

of the land in the vicinity of the then unborn town was clouded by Cherokee

claims. When Georgia finally obtained possession of the great reservation, a

considerable portion of it was added to DeKalb county. The rest was added to

Carroll, Gwinnett, Hall and Habersham counties. Georgia, it will be borne in

mind, was a comparatively old state at the time of the Cherokee emigration. Its

desirable public lands were long since taken by settlers, and many of her hardy

sons had joined the constantly growing army of pioneers seeking homes on the

rich prairies a few hundred miles west. In those days it was a common

expression among the restless landless class that "A poor man has no chance

in Georgia." The arable lands of the commonwealth were largely in the

hands of large landlords who cultivated them by means of slave labor, and the

poor white who could not obtain a foothold in the Piedmont hill country and

clear a farm from the forest, naturally drifted west. For years before the

opening of the Cherokee reservation was accomplished, the eyes of thousands of

worthy men with little capital but the will and muscle to do, were turned

toward the forbidden land, hoping to ere long be able to find homes there.




Since

these men largely laid the foundation of Atlanta's prosperity, it is well to

know something about them in this connection. Few of them could boast of

aristocratic forebears who received handsome land patents from their English

sovereign, or who were members of exclusive colonial society. They sprang from

the stock that made possible the patriot victory at King's Mountain — the

shaggy wearers of homespun and coonskin caps whose long-barreled rifles made

the Hessian dearly earn his hire. Davy Crockett will stand as a representative

type of the "backwoodsmen" who cleared the farms of the great

Appalachian region, and it was from such ancestors that the settlers of north

Georgia came. These indomitable home-makers were for the most part of the

matchless strain known as Scotch-Irish, possessing those rugged traits of

independence, industriousness and honesty that Burns extols in his verse.

Probably the descendants of these pioneers represent today the most distinctive

type of American. They have preserved their native blood against the

hybridizing effect of foreign immigration, so manifest in all other sections of

the country, and their Americanism is as unadulterated.




Speaking

of this important element of citizens, the "The Commonwealth of Georgia"

thus describes the North Georgians: "The population of Northeast Georgia

is largely made up of immigrants and their descendants from the mountain

regions of the states lying eastward. These, in their turn, had an unusual

sprinkling of Scotch blood, due to another natural law that impels emigrants

from an older country to seek the counterpart of their own familiar mountains,

dales or plains, as the case may be, in the El Dorado of their future. The

rough, hardy Scotch, inured to hardship, accustomed to their cold mountain

springs, and their clear streams of water, upon landing on the coast regions of

the Old Dominion and the Old North State, would naturally seek the Piedmont

region. From thence, along the valleys, they have crossed over into Georgia, still

finding a congenial home and a thousand reminders of bonny Scotland. Thus the

people of Northeast Georgia are largely of Scotch descent, as is otherwise

indicated by the prevalence of the prefix, 'Mac' Northwest Georgia has received

considerable accessions of population, by way of reflex, from East Tennessee,

whose rich valleys extend into the northwestern counties of Georgia. Many of

these were also of Scotch descent. The seacoast counties, on the other hand,

received their principal accessions of population from a class who were blessed

with mere wealth and corresponding culture — a class more strongly wedded to

the traditions of England and France."




There is

a good deal of romance associated with the settlement of North Georgia. A history

of the period of Cherokee troubles, picturesquely treated, would read very much

like a Pike's Peak rush or the Leadville excitement. As has been stated, the

existence of gold in paying quantity in several of the counties afterwards

formed from the Cherokee nation, had much to do with the coveting of the

country by the white man, and was the source of much trouble and no little

expense to the state of Georgia. A large adventurer class was attracted to the

Georgia mountains while the Indians still retained possession of the country,

and crudely mined in the region between the Chestatee and Etowah rivers. Their

operations were carried on mainly by the placer process, and, from Governor

Gilmer's account, they must have been a lawless lot. They numbered some ten

thousand, gathered from the four quarters. Many of them had, or pretended to

have, the permission of the Indians to search for gold. The state regarded

their presence with extreme displeasure and sent several military expeditions

against them to drive them off the reservation. In a communication to the

attorney-general of the United States, Governor Gilmer said: ''The state

considers itself entitled to all the valuable minerals within the soil of the

Cherokee territory, by virtue of its fee simple ownership, and is now

permitting itself to be plundered of its wealth from the strong desire of its

authorities to avoid any collision with the general government."




Speaking

of the motley crew rendezvousing in the mountain fastnesses of north Georgia,

the governor continues: "When this letter was written to the

attorney-general, a community was forming in the gold regions scarcely ever

paralleled anywhere. Many thousands of idle, profligate people flocked into the

country from every point of the compass, whose pent-up vicious propensities,

when loosed from the restraints of law and public opinion, made them like the

evil one, in his worst mood. After wading all day in the creeks which made the

Etowah and Chattahoochee rivers, picking up particles of gold, they collected

around lightwood knot fires at night and played on the ground and their hats at

cards, dice, push pin, and other games of chance, for their day's finding.

Numerous whiskey carts supplied the appropriate aliment for their employments.

Hundreds of combatants were sometimes seen at fisticuffs, striking and gouging,

as frontiersmen only can do these things."




After

much importunity on the part of the state of Georgia, the federal authorities

took action and drove the gold-hunters out with several companies of infantry,

but no sooner were they gone than the Cherokees took possession of the

"diggings," mostly through their adopted white citizens, and

continued to extract large quantities of gold. The federal troops did not

interfere, and indignation among the white people along the border was at a

high pitch. Governor Gilmer again wrote the attorney-general, saying:

"Very great excitement is said to be the result. There is much reason to

apprehend that the Indians will be forcibly driven from the gold region, unless

they are immediately prohibited from appropriating its mineral wealth."




The

state militia was shortly afterward ordered to the reservation to drive the

Indians away from the gold streams, and it was during the first of these

expeditions that Col. Harden, in command of the Hall county militia, was put

under arrest by the federal commander in the reservation. Time and again the

white boomers came back and were driven out. Several times there threatened to

be an armed collision between the reckless miners and the military, and there

was one riotous encounter that was dignified by the wags of the day by being

called the "Battle of Leathersford." The militia had made a number of

arrests, when it was set upon by a mob of boomers, who made desperate efforts

to release the prisoners. Some heads were cracked with musket butts before the

mob was driven off.




It is

said that fully twenty thousand men, some of whom were accompanied by their

families, had gathered around the Cherokee Nation in regular Oklahoma fashion,

to await the departure of the aboriginal occupants. On the northern border the

mountaineers of Tennessee and North Carolina were largely in evidence, and the

canvas-topped wagons of the Piedmont Georgians clotted the southern border. It

was a weary waiting, some of the intending settlers suffering severely for the

necessities of life. Some of them lived in camps for seven or eight years

before they were allowed to offer their names in the lottery that determined

who should go in and enjoy the promised land. The Cherokee craze extended over

the whole north half of Georgia and the adjacent region of neighboring states.

The popular songs of the time referred to the common hope of obtaining Indian

land. There was one, a couplet of which ran: 




 




"I'm

goin' for to leave my poor relation




And get

me a home in the Cherokee Nation."




 




Such

conditions as have been briefly described may with more degree of truth than

appears on the surface be said to have given birth to Atlanta. Not that Atlanta

came up like a mushroom, as a supply point for the Indian country or the

receptacle of its overflow. It was several years after the Cherokees had

removed to their new home before the little hamlet in the woods, destined to be

the metropolis and capital of Georgia, contained a dozen shanties. But the

opening of the Cherokee Nation had much to do with railroad building in

northwest Georgia, and Atlanta was essentially the creation of the railroads.

Two years before the Cherokees left, railroad conventions met in Knoxville, Tenn.,

and Macon, Ga., to project the construction of a railroad between the

Chattahoochee and Tennessee rivers, and in the same year the legislature of

Georgia passed a bill to build the State road as a main trunk between those

important rivers, passing through the Cherokee territory. One of the strong

points urged by the state before congress was the impediment of the Cherokee

Nation to material progress. The great valley of Tennessee, unable to find an

eastern outlet to the seaboard, because of the insuperable barrier interposed

by the lofty Appalachian range, was anxious for railroad connection with

Georgia to that end. When the Indians departed from Georgia, the bars were

thrown down. There was no room for a large town northwest of the center of the

state prior to that important event. There were no local resources to invite

the railroads, and nothing to invite the people. Once the impediment was

removed, the change was almost instantaneous. Less than a year after the

federal government had given the Cherokees but two years longer to remain, the

chief engineer of the railroad that was to be the connecting link between the

Tennessee and Chattahoochee had run the preliminary survey and settled upon the

site of Atlanta as a junction point.




At this period,

the few settlers along the southern outskirts of the Cherokee reservation

carried on a wagon trade with Augusta. The haul was a very long one, over

wretched roads, and the round-trip generally consumed more than a fortnight.

What little cotton and corn was raised was exchanged by the few merchants for

dry goods and groceries of the most staple kind. There were very few families

in the entire region that could afford luxuries. The houses were, almost

without exception, built of logs, and many of them had dirt floors. Plenty of

these rugged settlers had never seen wheat flour. Their commercial wants were

exceedingly few. as they "lived at home" in the strictest meaning of

the expression. Their boasted independence in this respect was purchased at the

expense of great physical effort and discomfort, to say nothing of the waste of

time. And yet, from what our surviving pioneer citizens and the printed

chronicles of that well-nigh forgotten time tell us, the people were happy and

contented in their impoverished isolation. They were hospitable to the few

strangers who happened along, and the wayfaring man was never turned away from

their humble doors. Among themselves they were highly sociable, often walking

long distances to "preaching," dances, "log-raisings" and the

other primitive amusements peculiar to remote communities. Life among the

mountaineers of North Georgia was wilder then than now. and such exciting

sports as bear righting, sometimes witnessed by the whole population of a

township, were common. "White's Statistics of Georgia," in describing

these counties back in the forties, says of one of them (Hall): "Hunting

and rifle shooting occupy a Large part of the time of the people, who are

generally temperate and hospitable, but rather shy of strangers." Of the

people of Murray county, the same work says: "The amusements are dancing,

racing, cock-fighting, gander-pulling and bear fights." Still, for all the

roughness of their environment and the crudeness of their manner of living,

these mountain-folk were law-abiding and peaceably inclined. Homicides were

rare among them, as the court records of their counties will show, and they

seem, by the same testimony, to have had little use for lawyers. It may sound

strange, writing at this clay, to class the early inhabitants of the region

immediately tributary to Atlanta, with the quaint mountaineers still presenting

a picturesque type in the highland counties, but at that time DeKalb, and the

other foothill counties, presented the same sociological conditions. The cultured

and easy-living people of the low country regarded them as "yahoos,"

to use an expressive provincialism, and their fighting proclivities, as in the

case of the westerner today, were exaggerated. It was the coming of the

railroads that wrought the change.




Before

concluding these cursory observations on the descent and characteristics of the

first settlers of the wide section of Georgia that gave to the Southeast its

chief city, it is well to refer to the fact that the so-called

"cavalier" stock had little to do with laying the foundation of the

new empire. The planter with his semi-feudal ideas and mode of life, descended

from the old-line families of Virginia, was to be found further down in the

state. Prosperous in his landed possessions, he had no motive to impel him to

hew out a home in the wilderness to the north. "The Commonwealth of

Georgia" says, apropos: "Middle Georgia, especially, is Virginian in

modes of life, speech and manners. In common with her sister states of the old

South, the ruling class have been the wealthy slave-owners and others in full

sympathy with them." The historian could not have said this of North

Georgia. Few slaves were owned in the entire region. True, the people were too

poor to be slave-owners, and they had, in those times, no need for this kind of

labor; but it must also be taken into consideration that they were not of

slave-holding stock. A large proportion of them were of identically the same

strain as the Puritans. Indeed, hundreds of them were not even born in the

South. Of these some were immigrants from the old world and some from New

England and Middle states. Scotchmen as straight-laced as any disciples of John

Knox on their native heath, and Irishmen of strong "Orange"

prejudices, were vital factors in the building of North Georgia. Wallace Putnam

Reed, in his excellent history of Atlanta, notes this fact as follows: "It

should be stated, however, that the state has received two noteworthy streams

of immigration, one from Pennsylvania and one from New England. These

immigrants at once mingled with the great mass of our people, and their

descendants became typical Georgians." To one interested in genealogy, a

study of the biographies of the prominent early residents of this section

affords abundant proof of this singular fact. Many of the streets of Atlanta

named for respected and valuable pioneer citizens, bear the names of men born

in New England or elsewhere in the North. This is true of such prominent

pioneers as Jonathan Norcross, William Markham, Richard Peters, Edward E.

Rawson, Frank P. Rice, Sidney Root, H. I. Kimball, L. P. Grant, and others that

might be named. Others Southern born came of the sturdy Scotch or Irish stock

that had so much to do with the development of Piedmont Georgia. They were not

of cavalier antecedents.


















 




 




CHAPTER III. WHEN ATLANTA WAS TERMINUS




 




In the

spring of 1836 the music of an axe echoed through the forest that covered the

hills destined to furnish the site of Atlanta. The brain of the man who swung

the axe was not excited with mental visions of a "future great"

metropolis where inside lots brought a fabulous price per front foot, and an

acre of sterile red clay was infinitely more valuable than all the

"diggings" of the Cherokee Nation. It is doubtful if the inner vision

of that hardy pioneer — Hardy Ivy — extended further than a stumpy clearing in

the woods surrounding a snug cabin with his children playing about the door.

The ambition that nerved his arm to strike was the common desire for a home,

and in this instance the home-seeker was contented with a very humble one. Mr.

Ivy was a poor man, but he possessed the better qualities of the frontiersman.

He had energy, pluck and courage. It had been his original intention to locate

in or close to Decatur, but land was to be had almost for the clearing over

toward the Chattahoochee, and leaving his family at Decatur, Mr. Ivy mounted a

mule and went on a little land prospecting expedition in the uninhabited hill

country to the west. Nothing but the settler's poverty led him to select the

rough piece of woodland six miles above the county seat. It was forbidding

enough. Hundreds of land-hunters had rambled over the unpromising soil before,

and left it like the stone that the builders rejected. However, the tract was

cheap, and that was the chief desideratum. Mr. Ivy concluded he could grub a

living out of it, and preferred settling then and there to taking chances in

the Cherokee lottery. Accordingly, he concluded the purchase, and having

erected his log hut, removed his family to their new home sometime during the

summer.




As has

been stated in a preceding chapter, the year in which Mr. Ivy made his

settlement was a momentous one in projecting railroad enterprises for Georgia.

The convention attended by delegates from seven Southern states, which met at

Knoxville, Tenn., on July 4, of that year, recommended the building of a road

from Cincinnati to Knoxville, to connect with the two roads already in course

of construction, one from Augusta, and the other from Macon. The Macon railroad

convention, held in the fall, discussed a uniform system for the routes to be

followed by the several projected roads, and passed resolutions calling upon

the state to build the connecting link between the Tennessee and Chattahoochee

rivers. By this time, the work of construction was already in progress on the

Central, Georgia and Monroe railroads, and a charter had been granted to the

State road in the west, since known as the Western and Atlantic. The Macon

convention was instrumental in securing the passage of a bill by the

legislature that winter, extending the charters of these roads to meet the

expansive ideas of the railroad enthusiasts of the state. This bill, which was

bitterly fought by the non-progressive element from the back counties, passed by

a very narrow majority on joint ballot in the general assembly. Governor Schley

affixed his signature to the act on the 21st of December, 1836. This

legislative measure was of great importance in its bearing on the unborn

metropolis. By its terms it authorized the "construction of a railroad

from the Tennessee line, near the Tennessee river, to the southwestern bank of

the Chattahoochee river, at a point most eligible for the running of branch

roads thence to Athens, Madison, Milledgeville, Forsyth and Columbus."

This made the way clear for the long talked of connecting link between the

great highways of commerce between the Mississippi and Atlantic seaboard. It at

once elevated the State road to the dignity of a great trunk line and

forecasted its grand destiny. The determination of the eligible point spoken of

in the act, called Atlanta into being.




The

following spring (1837), Stephen H. Long, engineer-in-chief of the ambitious

new railroad, went to the southwestern bank of the Chattahoochee to locate a suitable

terminus, as directed by the state. Mr. Long was a practical man with no axe to

grind. He saw at once that the topography of the region made the plan of

locating an important terminal and junction point anywhere on the banks of the

river unfeasible. Seven miles east of the river, however, he found what he

considered the logical point for the purpose desired. Here the last foothills

of the three great mountain ranges of the middle South converged in a manner

that made them the natural roadbed for the proposed intersecting steel

highways. Indeed, nothing was left for Mr. Long to do but acknowledge nature's

provision in the matter. The place approved by his scientific judgment was

peculiarly well adapted for an important railroad center, and he selected it

without any hesitation. There was no haphazard luck or land-scheming involved

in making the selection. It was in strict conformity to the immutable law of

eternal fitness. The intervening years which have made Atlanta the hub from

which numerous railroad spokes radiate, have confirmed the wisdom of the chief

engineer's action. In no other place could an Atlanta have been built.




At the

present day, an engineer bent on the performance of a mission such as that

assigned to Mr. Long, would have been followed by an army of townsite promoters

and speculators. Immediately upon the official approval of his selection, a

rush to the "magic city" would have ensued, and ere a year had

elapsed he farms for miles around would have been laid off in townsite

additions. There would have followed a veritable "boom," and the

scandal of official collusion with land agents for personal gain would have

been inevitable. Nothing of the kind attended the location of the South's

greatest railroad center and her Empire State's future capital. Engineer Long

completed his important work practically unnoticed, and Hardy Ivy went ahead

clearing his ridge farm in sublime indifference to the official survey and

apparently without suspecting that a fortune was within his grasp. A few curious

or captious politicians rode over his and adjacent land and went away shaking

their heads. The Cherokee Nation boomers ran over it on their way to the latest

El Dorado. It seems to have occurred to nobody to possess themselves of a few

acres and quietly await the coming of the railroad. It is likely that few had

faith in the road ever being built. Singular as it may seem now, a decided

prejudice existed in the popular mind against railroads. They were regarded by

many as anything but a desirable acquisition to a town, for the reason that they

built up near-by competing trading points. The long-haul wagon traffic was a

great thing in those days, and the town lucky enough to be the commercial Mecca

of the white-topped caravans was exceedingly jealous of having its supremacy

disputed by an upstart railroad station in the vicinity. Decatur was bitterly

opposed to the new railroads coming to that flourishing wagon trade town, and

if they must come, Mr. Long's paper metropolis was welcome to them. DeKalb's

flourishing little courthouse town actually petitioned against the granting of

a right of way through its corporate limits to the Georgia railroad, and by its

determined opposition forced that road to run its track at some distance. This

feeling prevailed in most of the interior towns of the state. The possibilities

of development opened by the iron horse were appreciated by few, and it is to

be doubted if the Macon convention represented the majority sentiment of the

people. In that, as in most progressive movements, a handful of far-seeing,

daring spirits, took the initiative while the great mass of citizens were

either ignorant of their purpose or apathetic. Agitation was more apt to

provoke a dangerous hostility than a favorable sentiment, and the general assembly

had been none too soon in pushing its railroad measures to a vote. Generally

speaking, the railroad was regarded as an innovation of questionable benefit or

of positive detriment to the community. The logic back of the opposition to

labor-saving machinery on the part of manual workers was advanced by this

non-progressive element in opposition to the coming of the iron horse. In those

days, each community lived to itself and was much more co-operative than since

mechanical progress made possible the universal interchange of commodities.

Every town had its skilled independent mechanics and small proprietors to

supply the commercial needs of the inhabitants. Wearing apparel, household

articles and farm supplies were largely manufactured in a crude way by local

ingenuity and labor, and an industrial condition that built up great, urban

working hives for the production and distribution of the things that went to

supply human convenience and necessity was naturally regarded with suspicion.

The railroads changed the thrifty independence of many of the flourishing

country towns of half a century or more ago to a condition of comparative

unimportance, insufficient self-support and dependence. The "old

fogies" had wit enough to foresee this, and hence their seeming lack of

enterprise. The most vociferous Othello of the time who feared his occupation

would be gone was the teamster or wagoner who profited by the growing traffic

as population increased. The men directly connected with or employed by the

wagon trade were numerically strong and had much to do with exciting a bitter

hostility to railroads. In not a few counties of Georgia this influential

retrogressive element made their representative in the legislature pledge

himself to oppose railroad legislation. In the vicinity of Atlanta there were

men who made threats against the railroad property, and pioneer citizens

residing in our midst recall the protestations of neighbors that they would

never ride on the cars if they did come.




The

Cherokee reservation settled up, and still Hardy Ivy was the only denizen of

the embryonic city. But the State road was slowly creeping Atlantaward from the

west, and as it approached Marietta, interest in the eastern terminus seems to

have been revived to the extent of inducing one more settler to cast his lot on

the future townsite. This man was John Thrasher, who had not located there for

agricultural purposes. He had an eye to the near future and erected a

combination house and storeroom. This was in 1839. Mr. Thrasher put a few staple

goods on his shelves and sat down to wait for customers. He took a partner

named Johnson, the firm name being Johnson & Thrasher. Business was slow

and the visits of customers few and far between. The store did not enjoy the

advantages of a well located crossroads general mercantile establishment, for

it was out of the way and settlers living to the west of Terminus, as the place

was beginning to be called, half in derision, as a rule continued to go to

Decatur to trade. From the coming of John Thrasher, who was familiarly known to

the few settlers of the vicinity as "Cousin John," until the coming

of the railroad laborers to grade through the hamlet preparatory to laying the

track, the dwellings in Terminus did not number over half a dozen, and these did

not make the original Ivy cabin look humble in comparison. The early chronicles

speak of Thrasher and an old woman and her daughter as the only residents of

the place in the latter part of 1839. The railroad gang put in their appearance

in the summer of 1842, and in June of the same year Willis Carlisle arrived and

opened a store on what was afterward Marietta street, near the present location

of the First Presbyterian church. Notwithstanding the graders were on the

ground and the Chattahoochee already bridged, Thrasher moved to Griffin,

declaring that Terminus was no good for trade and would never make anything

with Decatur so close. At this time, the population of Terminus was less than

thirty, and the country round about was sparsely settled.




Still,

it cannot be denied that things began to look up in Terminus after dirt began

to fly on the State road. The chief engineer had erected, not far from where

the present car shed stands, a frame house, and two stories high at that, for

the use of the officers of the road. For a year or two this unpretentious

little building was regarded with great admiration by the citizens of the

hamlet as the forerunner of valuable improvements. Men later distinguished as

railroad magnates or public officers worked in this building as employees of

the State railroad, among them Chief Justice Logan E. Bleckley, who years

afterward served with distinction on the supreme bench of the state. Jonathan

Norcross, the first mayor of the infant city, slept in this historic building

the first night he spent in the place. The structure, showing sadly the effect

of time, can be seen today standing on Peters street, facing the side of

Trinity church. It is one of Atlanta's most precious heirlooms of the past, and

yet not one in a thousand of the city's inhabitants know of its location or

historic associations. Another important event of the latter half of 1842 was

the birth of the first infant in Terminus. The little one, a girl, was the

daughter of the new merchant, Willis Carlisle. She grew to womanhood in Atlanta

and became the wife of the well-known iron founder, W. S. Withers.




The

leaves of the forest trees amid which the cabins of the little hamlet clustered

had turned yellow, brown, and fallen, when the graders had completed their task

and the iron bands bound Terminus to Marietta. This work was done with the help

of a locomotive, and after the track was in shape to receive one, the officers

of the road prepared to have an engine brought across the country from Madison,

a distance of sixty miles. The task was not an easy one, requiring an immense

six-wheel wagon constructed for the purpose, and the propelling force of

sixteen able-bodied Georgia mules. The work of hauling the locomotive over the

rough roads consumed several days, but was attended by no accident. Its arrival

was made the occasion for a gala day by the citizens of Terminus and the

hundred or more railroaders in their midst. It must be borne in mind that

thousands of people in northwest Georgia had yet to see their first steam

engine, to appreciate the full magnitude of this grand celebration. For days

before the arrival of the locomotive long strings of farm wagons had been

moving up the hills that led to Terminus, some of the occupants having come

extremely long distances to see the marvel of the century. Hundreds of Cherokee

settlers were in the crowd and DeKalb and adjoining counties were almost

depopulated to swell the sea of humanity gathered in the ambitious little burg.

It is said that every man, woman, child, negro and dog in Decatur came over to

see the mechanical monster run. It was equal to the biggest kind of a county

fair. The stores and refreshment stands drove a thriving trade for several

days, and after the curiosity of the crowd had been appeased, Terminus found

that her population had been nearly doubled on the strength of the opening of

the railroad to traffic. The locomotive, attached to a box car, made its first

trip to Marietta on the 24th of December, pulling away from Terminus under a

full head of steam amid the deafening cheers of the assembled multitude, many

of the more exuberant discharging their fire-arms in their enthusiasm.




With the

opening of the State road Terminus became a fairly good trading point, though

there was no sudden boom and no realty holder became rich by quick transfers.

The town moved on in humdrum country fashion, the merchants finding plenty of

time to whittle goods boxes and swap yarns with their leisurely customers.

There was a good deal of bartering in those days, and many frontiersmen used

hides and furs in lieu of currency. The railroad gave the inhabitants no outlet

for their small produce, and after the work of constructing the railroad was

finished, the local market was very limited. Butter, eggs and the other commodities

of the small fanner were a drug on the market, and as these had to be taken by

the merchants in exchange for their goods, if they did any business, it is easy

to imagine that no great degree of prosperity resulted. The year following the

opening of the road there was talk about Terminus being "overdone,"

and some of the businessmen are said to have moved to Marietta and Decatur. The

great need felt by the town was an outlet to the larger cities of the coast,

and the coming of a road from the east was impatiently awaited. Even with two

other railroads headed her way and expected to arrive within two or three years

at the furthest there seems to have been no speculative interest in Terminus.

The few lot-holders were apparently more interested in what the ground would

produce in the way of garden truck and Indian corn than what it would bring in

the real estate market. An attempt was made as early as 1842 to get up a little

real estate excitement by some of the larger realty holders, but it amounted to

little. A land auction was held that year and an attempt made to sell off the

famous Mitchell lot, a year or two later the source of dangerous ill-feeling

and litigation in which many of the older citizens were concerned. Fred Arms

acted as auctioneer, disposing of three subdivisions to David Dougherty, Wash

Collier and himself for a very modest sum. By this time there were perhaps a

score of buildings in Terminus, most of them log dwellings. But five or six

acres of the virgin forest had been cleared. The cross-roads leading to the

hamlet, later known as Marietta, Peachtree, Decatur and Whitehall streets,

were, when the place was known as Terminus, named for the original landowners,

Reuben Cone, Ammi Williams, and Samuel Mitchell. After the railroad was finished,

some of the laborers who had been thrown out of employment remained in the

village, forming a rather disorderly and disreputable element of the

population. They rendezvoused at a drinking dive kept by one of their number

and spent their time largely in gambling and cock-fighting.




The

engine hauled over from Madison continued to make regular trips over the State

road, with W. F. Adair at the throttle. It was one of the largest locomotives

manufactured at that time and had been christened "Florida." As traffic

with the west increased, the prospects of Terminus brightened. Travel over the

road became quite an item in the town's support, many of the travelers stopping

over night to take the train. There was no tavern worthy of the name, but every

house was an improvised inn. The entertainment of these transient guests helped

to put money in circulation, and small things were not despised when Atlanta

was in swaddling clothes. There was also quite a factor of support in the board

and trade of the few railroad officials and employees who made their

headquarters at Terminus.




It was

not until two railroads had arrived in the place that the inhabitants enjoyed

school facilities or a regular place of worship. No clergyman resided in

Terminus, nor were there professional men of any kind. However, occasionally a

circuit rider of the Baptist or Methodist persuasion would ride into town and

announce a meeting, generally in the open air. On such occasions the citizens

would turn out en masse. Louis L. Parham, one of the best posted chroniclers of

Atlanta's early days, says of the primitive religious gatherings: "Early

worship in Terminus was not conducive to great spirituality. However devout

these pioneers, when it is considered how scant the means for communion, it

precludes the thought that 'goin' to meetin' ' was other than irksome. And yet

it is recorded that the handful of worshippers who gathered Sundays in any

place offered them to worship the God of their fathers, were as devout as any

of this day. The first place where services were held in the rude hamlet was in

the open air near a cut made by the railroad builders. Some large rocks had

been thrown out by the blasters, and on these a handful of men, women and

children sat and listened to the simple services — 'praised God from whom all

blessings flow.' They had the blue canopy of the heavens for a covering and the

earth for a footstool. But this was not for long. As the place grew it became

necessary to have a house in which to hold services. Occasionally they met in a

two-story frame office building which belonged to the Western and Atlantic

railroad and stood on a lot now occupied by the Southern Express company and

the Brown building on Wall street." The building referred to by Mr. Parham

was the frame structure used as headquarters by the officers of the old State

road, spoken of in the foregoing.


















 




 




CHAPTER IV. WHEN ATLANTA WAS MARTHASVILLE




 




The

hamlet went by the name of Terminus scarcely two years. In the spring of 1843

somebody, who probably found time hanging heavy on his hands, began an

agitation to change the name of the burg. Through most of the summer the

proposed change of name was the principal topic of discussion among the ten or

a dozen families who inhabited the place. Ex-Governor Lumpkin had been a

tireless worker for the railroad development of Georgia and was regarded as an

especial friend of Terminus. Efforts were being made to get him to make or

influence others to make some investments there, and somebody who believed with

Shakespeare that there was nothing in a name, suggested that Terminus be

re-christened Marthasville, in honor of Governor Lumpkin's daughter Martha. The

handful of denizens, with unanimous bad taste, fell in with the idea, and the

meaningless but quaint name of Marthasville was adopted by common consent. When

the legislature convened in the winter it was petitioned for a charter under

the new name, and on the 23rd of December the village was formally incorporated

as Marthasville. The name Terminus, which at least meant something, fell into

desuetude. In speaking of this action on the part of the Terminusites, the

well-known early historian, E. Y. Clarke, says: "This may appear to have

been quite fast for a community of ten families at most; but it should be

regarded rather as the evidence, or first manifestation, of that spirit of

enterprise which afterwards became so distinctive an element of progress."




It may prove interesting, at this distant day, to give

excerpts from the act of incorporation and to dwell somewhat upon the first

year or two's political organization. Few of the village records have been

preserved, and already the history of Marthasville as a municipality is little

more than tradition. The preamble of the act of incorporation follows:




"Be

it enacted, etc., that from and after the passage of this act, L. V. Gannon,

John Bailey, Willis Carlisle, John Kile, sr., and Patrick Quinn, be, and they

are hereby, appointed commissioners of the town of Marthasville, in the county

of DeKalb, situated at the southeast terminus of the Western and Atlantic

railroad; and they, or a majority of them and their successors in office, shall

have power and authority to pass all by-laws and ordinances which they or a

majority of them may deem expedient and necessary for the improvement and

benefit of the internal police of the said town; provided, nevertheless, that

said by-laws be not repugnant to the constitution of the United States, nor to

the constitution and laws of this state.''




The

first commissioners were to hold their office until the first Monday in March,

1845, when, and on the same day in each subsequent year, a town election was to

be held to elect five commissioners. Under the provisions of the charter these

officials were empowered to convene at such time and place within the corporate

limits of the town as they might elect, and proceed to select a clerk of the

board and transact such business as might properly come before them. They were

given corporate jurisdiction to the extent of the boundary lines of the town,

with the provision that their jurisdiction should be extended as the boundary

lines of the town were extended.




The first year of the history of Marthasville, from all

accounts of the surviving pioneers, was a good deal in the nature of a

"kangaroo" government. A few ordinances of the most rudimentary kind

were passed with due solemnity, but they were not respected by the citizenry,

nor was much effort made to enforce them. The spasmodic weak attempts to try

offenders only brought ridicule upon the grave and reverend law-makers and the

officers entrusted with the enforcement of their laws. The people continued to

live as though they were squatter sovereigns in the back woods, and their

bucolic ways were undisturbed by superfluous metropolitan frills. The attempt to

collect corporation taxes resulted in a "water haul," and the town

was utterly without financial resources. As a consequence, the ordinances for

the laying out and improvement of streets were dead letters. The most ambitions

"avenues" remained mere cow trails, and citizens had to jump across a

"deer lick" to walk across the "business center." The

riff-raff railroad element of the population, by this time considerably

augmented, grew more turbulent and refractory as the impotence of the local

authorities was realized. As is frequently the case in small communities,

political antipathies and jealousies seem to have divided the population into

factions, and the "administration," on the whole, was very unpopular.




In 1845

there was a "new deal" at the town election, but one of the five

commissioners, Willis Carlisle, the merchant, being returned to the board. The

commissioners elected in March of that year were as follows: Ambrose B.

Forsyth, Willis Carlisle, Stephen Terry, James Loyd, sr., and James A. Collins.

Among the above names will be recognized some that were later prominent in the

public spirit and enterprise of the growing town.




The year

1845 was an eventful one in the history of Marthasville. The Georgia Railroad,

which for several years had been toilsomely creeping from Augusta up the

Piedmont slope, was completed to Marthasville in the latter part of the summer

of that year, and on September 15 the first train came through from the

seaboard. As may well be believed, this marked a great epoch in the progress of

the little city on the hills, and was made the occasion for a jollification

that eclipsed the demonstration celebrating the arrival of the Western and

Atlantic a little less than three years before. The old State line had not

proven of much practical benefit to Marthasville, because, as the natives

expressed it, it "didn't go nowhere." At the time of the arrival of

the Georgia Railroad the western connecting line was a rickety sort of

"jerkwater railroad," operated but a little way the other side of

Marietta. The coming of the Georgia was hailed by Marthasville as the real

beginning of her career as a railroad center. It was after nightfall when the

first train rolled heavily to a stop in the center of the village, having

aboard the president of the road. Judge John P. King, his associate officials,

and a distinguished party of citizens from Augusta and intermediate points.

Bonfires leapt high in air and hoarse cheers from hundreds of throats greeted

the pioneer train and its occupants. Arrangements had been made for a grand

reception to the lowlanders, and the following day was spent in feasting and

drinking by the thousands of people gathered to welcome the Georgia Railroad to

Marthasville. As was usual in political campaigns and on gala occasions, the

big crowd resorted to Walton Spring, just at the edge of the townsite, where

speech-making was indulged in by the railroad visitors and the local orators.

In these speeches, which were cheered to the echo, great things were predicted

for Marthasville.




An

incident which cost one man his life, and another of the same nature, which was

narrowly averted by Judge King, were exciting incidents of the day. Near the

rude depot was a deep well which had been carelessly left uncovered. Stepping

off the train in the darkness, the president of the new railroad, after being

taken in charge by a local committee, proceeded a few paces toward the hotel,

and as he was responding to the hearty greetings on every hand, he tottered

upon the brink of the dangerous hole, the existence of which was evidently

forgotten in the excitement. A dozen hands were outstretched to save him, and

he was drawn back to safety in the nick of time. The incident shocked Judge

King greatly, and he received hundreds of congratulations on his escape. His

death at that time would have been nothing short of a public calamity, being,

as he was, the railroad genius of Georgia. As if Judge King's close call were

not warning enough to cause the town authorities to close the hole forthwith,

another man fell into the well a few hours later and was drowned.




With the

coming of the second railroad, Marthasville had a newspaper, founded the same

summer. The tiny, crudely printed sheet called The Luminary, was owned and

edited by Rev. Joseph Baker, a Baptist minister of the old school, and its

contents were more religious than secular, though to keep up with the local

happenings was not calculated to tax its diminutive space. Editor Baker was a

good man and had a wide circle of friends, but his journal eked out a

precarious existence of a few months and was forgotten. There existed ample

occasion for a moral reform sheet in Marthasville at the time the Luminary

entered the journalistic wilderness, and the reverend editor seems to have

taken such a policy as a large part of his mission.




By this time,

the sore need of a building in which to hold religious services and school had

resulted in the erection by the citizens of a non-denominational church and

schoolhouse combined. The structure, a small, weather-boarded one-story house

with old fashioned chimneys at each end, was built by popular subscription and

occupied a little clearing to one side of the Decatur road, upon the present

Scofield lot, between Peachtree and Houston streets, diagonally across from the

First Methodist church. Preaching even at this date was irregular and there

seems to have been no resident pastor. It is said that the first sermon was

delivered in the new church by Rev. Dr. J. S. Wilson, who afterwards became the

pastor of the First Presbyterian church of Atlanta. The various denominations

were all represented in a small way, and when a clergyman of a particular sect

came to town, he "held forth" to those of his church in the little

schoolhouse. In this manner the different religious organizations "took

turns" in using the structure as a place of worship until they were able

to build separate houses of worship. During the week, a public school was

conducted in the building.




Some men

of sterling qualities and strongly imbued with the town-building spirit had

cast their lot in Marthasville. Jonathan Norcross, notable among these, began

his business career as the owner and operator of what was literally a one-horse

sawmill. This rude manufactory was located in the lower end of the town, on the

spot occupied by the old Atlanta and West Point depot. The locality was known

as Slabtown, in consequence of so many huts in the vicinity being built of the

slabs turned out at the mill. The motive power was an old blind horse. About

the time of the arrival of the Georgia Railroad, Mr. Norcross opened a general

merchandise store. John Thrasher, the pioneer merchant, having heard that

Marthasville was forging rapidly to the front, returned from Griffin, and

having accumulated a little money invested it in town lots. By this time, a

number of business branches were represented. Collins & Loyd and A. B.

Forsyth conducted general stores, and a man named Kile a small grocery. There

was a bonnet and hat store run by a man by the name of Dunn, and Stephen Terry

had a real estate office. In addition there were several "eating

houses," one of which affected the dignity of a hotel. Dr. George G. Smith

was a physician. Hardy Ivy still resided in the neighborhood, and a son,

Socrates Ivy, born to him on November 2, 1844, was the first male child born on

the townsite. T. G. Crusselle was a prominent and active citizen, having come

with the entry of the State road as a contractor. He built a log shanty for the

accommodation of railroad hands on the site of the Kimball block, the only

building at Terminus at the time, excepting Thrasher's store and another hut.

The next year after the State road reached Terminus, Mr. Crusselle

superintended the moving of a story-and-a-half house by rail from Bolton. The

structure was supported in an upright position upon two freight cars, Crusselle

and his men riding upon the roof some twenty feet above the track. The house

narrowly missed toppling over into the Chattahoochee as it was being hauled

across the bridge. It was this building that boasted of being Marthasville's

first hotel. F. C. Orme was the postmaster, with Lewis H. Clarke as his

assistant. Among the other well-remembered residents of this period were

Painter Smith, Hack & Bryant, Joseph Thompson, William Crawford, and Mrs.

Oslin, the inn landlady.




The fall

that witnessed the running of trains between Augusta and Marthasville saw the

western terminal point a straggling hamlet of a score of houses. With the

exception of the residences of James A. Collins and Stephen Terry, which were constructed

of lumber, the dwellings were built of logs or slabs from the sawmill. No man

of any considerable means lived in the place, and those who had acquired a

foothold on the townsite had done so with a trifling cash outlay. Land could be

bought not far from the center of the village for from $3 to $4 an acre, and a

good business lot was slow sale at $50. The Ivy farm embraced much of what was

later the fashionable Peachtree district, and the tract of about one hundred

acres was sold by the old pioneer for a few hundred dollars. Had he held it he

would have been a millionaire. The Mitchell property constituted the cream of

the townsite, and repeated efforts to sell lots from it at auction met with

indifferent success. Probably in all there was not over a dozen acres of land

cleared, exclusive of five acres donated by Mitchell for a public square and

railroad purposes. The hamlet was unsightly, and after a hard rain the muddy

crossroads where the four or five stores clustered were well-nigh impassable. The

countrymen who came to the place to exchange their products for merchandise

were generally a poverty-stricken lot, uncouth in looks and manners, and given

to an inordinate consumption of a very crude species of corn whiskey. On

Saturday, the chief trading day, it is said the "sagers" were wont to

"take the town," and, to carry the colloquialism further, "paint

it red." There was no little disorder, to which the railroad

"rowdies" largely contributed, and with which the local authorities

were unable to cope. When Marthasville began to grow in earnest, after the

Georgia road came, it presented the lively and picturesque appearance of a

frontier town, particularly on the busiest market days and public occasions.

Canvas-topped mountain wagons with curved, scow-like beds, rolled in by the

score, long-barreled squirrel rifles leaning against the front seat beside the

husky driver and a troop of hounds and nondescript curs following behind. These

rural visitors from a long distance usually camped in the public square and

stayed several days. As they sought the railroad only at long intervals, they

were heavy purchasers and the merchants exhibited enterprise in endeavoring to

attract and hold their trade. There was much rivalry between the new town and

Decatur, which up to this time had not been materially affected by her rival's

struggling existence. Thenceforth, however, the county-seat realized that

Marthasville was a very serious factor to reckon with, and began to lose

ground. Cotton, wheat, and other staple country products came to the railroad

point in steadily increasing quantity, and the town grew apace.




Before closing this fragmentary record of the first year

or two of the corporate existence of Marthasville, it will interest our readers

to supplement this chapter with an extract from a paper on the early history of

the place which was printed in the Atlanta Journal, under date of December 15,

1883. The paper in question describes the hamlet just before the completion of

the Georgia Railroad and the celebration of that event, as follows:




"The

completion of the first railroad was a great epoch in the history of the town,

which was called at that time Marthasville. Before this, however, the Western

and Atlantic was slowly working its way to the town, and at that time was in

working condition about as far as Marietta, maybe a little further. This,

however, was not sufficient for carrying on the commerce of the town, small as

it was. In 1845 Marthasville was too small to be called a village. The four,

now principal, streets of the city were then straggling country roads, and the

only clearing of any importance was right at their junction. Only about twelve

or fourteen families resided here, and the entire population was estimated to

be about one hundred souls. The dwellings were mostly log cabins, such as today

may be seen on the frontier in the West. On the southwest corner of Marietta

and Peachtree streets stood a small grocery story, owned by Jonathan Norcross.

Fronting this stood Kile's grocery store, and down near where the Markham House

now stands was a grocery store kept by Collins & Loyd. In the rear of the

Republic block, on Pryor street, stood a two-story frame building which was

used by the officers of the Western and Atlantic railroad. On Peachtree street,

near the site of the First Methodist church, stood a small wooden building used

as a schoolhouse, church and public hall. These were the most notable features

of that time. On the 15th of September, 1845, tne Georgia Railroad was

completed to Augusta, and the first through train came to Marthasville, bearing

Judge John P. King, the president of the road, and several other railway

magnates and distinguished persons. The scene in the neighborhood of the depot

can be better imagined than described. Almost the whole population were

present, and the wildest excitement prevailed. Farmers in the country, for

forty miles around, had heard of the advent of the iron horse for days, and

when die time arrived they were on hand in force. Some came in one-ox carts, with

their families, and from the supply of provisions which they brought it was

evident that they intended to have a jubilee. Atlanta has had bigger crowds,

but never one so wild and delirious with excitement. The locomotive was eagerly

inspected, the cars were examined inside and out, the engineer and fireman were

interviewed, the conductor was looked upon as a hero, the president of the road

and the other distinguished gentlemen were heartily welcomed. The enthusiasm

of. the people knew no bounds, and in accordance with the times, a mass meeting

was held. The place chosen was about a half mile northwest of the depot, Walton

Spring. The names of the speakers have not been handed down to this generation,

but among them was Colonel John M. Clarke, the father of our well-known fellow

citizen. Colonel E. Y. Clarke. An old gentleman who was present at this meeting

informed the writer that the address was a masterpiece of eloquence and created

tremendous enthusiasm. The speaker pictured, in a prophetic way, the future of

Atlanta, dwelt upon the importance of commercial facilities, and speaking of

the Georgia road, said that its completion had 'tied the ocean to the hills.'




"With

a railroad to Augusta, Marthasville began to grow rapidly. Such men as Jonathan

Norcross, James Collins, Dr. George G. Smith, A. P. Forsyth, Joseph Thompson,

Thomas Kile, William Kile, the Joys, David Dougherty, Wash. Collier, 'Cousin'

John Thrasher, the McDaniels, Colonel L. P. Grant, Judge Hayden, and others,

began to put forth their best efforts to build up the town and raise it to a

condition of law and order. The attention of capitalists and speculators was

drawn to the place, and many made investments which laid the foundation of

subsequent fortunes. About this time John C. Calhoun, while journeying to

another point, stopped in the town, and with his far-seeing sagacity, predicted

that the place would one day be the most important inland city in the South.

Business naturally improved under these conditions. Merchants enlarged their

stores, and also built new ones, and a better class of dwellings sprang up. The

citizens were so full of their dreams of future greatness and prosperity that a

general desire was felt to shake off the name of Marthasville. They wanted a

name with a bigger sound, and Atlanta was suggested by J. Edgar Thompson, chief

engineer of the Georgia Railroad. The name struck the popular fancy, and it was

unanimously agreed that it filled a long-felt want. There was no charter, no

regularly organized government, but by common consent the name of Atlanta was

adopted and recognized by the railroad authorities and everybody. The minister

who preached the first sermon in Atlanta, the Rev. F. M. Haygood, recently

passed away at his home in this city, having reached the patriarchal limit of

four score years. Mr. Haygood, in one of his trips, reached here in 1846.

Meeting Mr. Jonathan Norcross, he soon learned that Marthasville was no more,

and that Atlanta was the newly adopted name. The next day Mr. Haygood held service

in the schoolhouse, and preached from the first chapter of John, 29th verse,

'Behold the Lamb of God, which taketh away the sin of the world.' This was the

first sermon ever preached in Atlanta. Before dismissing this matter of the

naming of the place, it is proper to state, however, that the name of Atlanta

was not duly recognized and legalized by the legislature until more than a year

later — some time in December, 1847.




"Probably

a year after the first railroad reached Atlanta, the population did not number

more than four hundred persons, but that was considered rapid progress, under

the circumstances. In our early days there was very little law in the place.

Every man stood ready to resent an insult, and to defend his person and

property with a shot gun or pistol. A population consisting of dangerous and

bad characters annoyed the citizens not a little, and it took the most

determined measures to keep peace and order."























 




CHAPTER V. SOME EARLY CONDITIONS AND INCIDENTS




 




It is

safe to say that Marthasville trebled her population within a year after the

completion of the Georgia Railroad. This brief period witnessed the completion

of a third railroad — the Macon & Western, over which the first train was

run to Marthasville in 1846. The little town, by this time fully conscious of

its bright destiny, was wide awake and aggressive in pushing its interests and

publishing its advantages. The third great railroad accession was greeted with

a jollification mass meeting, as the other two had been, and it is recorded

that this celebration surpassed all preceding occasions of the kind by far in

point of attendance and enthusiasm. Daniel Floyd and Mark A. Cooper were the

orators of the day. The arrival of the Macon & Western caused a great

shaking up in real estate circles and had much to do in making and unmaking

fortunes, as witness the following account of realty affairs by Colonel E. Y.

Clarke:




"It

was intended at first to build the depot of this road near the present

round-house of the Western & Atlantic railroad, and the embankment by the

mineral spring, known as the 'Monroe Road,' that being the name of the Macon

& Western before it changed hands. This intention of the management

occasioned great excitement in the village. Those who had settled near the

present passenger depot became alarmed for fear that the junction of the two

roads would become the business center of the future town. Hence they

determined to induce the president of the Macon road to abandon the original

purpose, and make the junction and depot near the terminus of the State road,

or present general passenger depot. To do this, Mitchell offered ground for the

depot, and it was accepted. This was a turning point in the affairs of

Marthasville, and fixed the location of the coming city; but it proved an

over-turning point for some of its people, among whom was Cousin John Thrasher,

who had bought one hundred acres in the vicinity of the first proposed depot of

the Macon road, but sold out in disgust, and at half cost, upon learning of the

change of base. The property which he thus disposed of at four dollars per

acre, he lived to see worth at least half a million."




There

were other men besides Mr. Thrasher who, even with three railroads intersecting

there, could not bring themselves to see much of a future for Marthasville.

Several of the original investors pulled out. Colonel Long, then chief engineer

of the Georgia Railroad, ridiculed the ambitions of the town and depreciated

its possibilities, declaring that it would gradually settle down to a wood

station, with a cross-roads store or two and a blacksmith shop. He deliberately

turned his back on his golden opportunities and invested his money in Marietta.

In this connection Historian Clarke says: "Partly to this want of

confidence, and of the failure to secure a new charter, providing for

commissioners to lay out streets, is due the irregularity of our street system;

everybody building where he pleased, without reference to any plan."




But men

who had the faith that would stake its last dollar on the destiny of the town

were not lacking in Marthasville. Upon the completion of the Macon road and

until the city of Atlanta was formally organized less than two years later, the

active spirits in the advancement of the town were: Jonathan Norcross, A. W.

Mitchell, I. O. McDaniel, Allen E. Johnson, Jonas Smith, John Collier, Eli

Hulsey, L. C. Simpson, Terence Doonan, Dr. Joseph Thompson, James Loyd, Edwin

Payne, Reuben Cone, J. A. Hayden, John A. Doane, Edward Holland, William

Herring, Dr. N. L. Angier, William G. Forsyth, Thomas Kile, Jacob Johnson,

James A. Collins, A. K. Seago, Rev. Joseph Baker, John Silvey, John R. Wallace,

Dr. J. F. Alexander, S. B. Hoyt, Rev. David G. Daniel, A. W. Walton, Joseph

Meade, John Weaver, L. P. Grant, Richard Peters, Thomas G. Crusselle, Thomas G.

Healey, Z. A. Rice, Moses Formwalt, Benjamin F. Bomar, H. C. Holcombe, Dr. W.

H. Fernerden, C. R. Hanleiter, Er Lawshe, R. W. Bullard, George Shaw, Patrick

Lynch, and Messrs. Mann, Davis, Roark, Trout, Morgan, Levi, Haas, Wheat, Bell,

Humphries, Crew and Haynes. The first lawyer was L. C. Simpson, with whom John

T. Wilson and S. B. Hoyt studied.




Three

lively weekly newspapers were established in Marthasville at this period, but

they met the same fate as The Luminary. The Democrat was published by Dr. W. H.

Fernerden; the Enterprise by Royal & Yarborough, and the Southern

Miscellany, by C. R. Hanleiter.




The

first Sunday school was organized on the second Sunday in June, 1847, in the

historic little church and schoolhouse built by popular subscription. The

records and minutes of this Sunday school, which have been preserved, are

especially interesting in preserving the names of many of the early citizens.

As high as seventy pupils were enrolled. This school was non-denominational,

and was known as the Atlanta Union Sabbath school. James A. Collins and Oswald

Houston were the first superintendents of this pioneer Sunday school. Robert M.

Clarke was the first secretary and treasurer, and R. M. Browne the first

librarian. From the records we learn that Edwin Payne, A. F. Luckie and A. E.

Johnson were selected as a committee to solicit subscriptions for carrying out

the plans of the organization. The list of those who made the first

subscriptions is as follows:




James A.

Collins, W. R. Venable, W. T. Bell, W. A. Harp, F. F. Hight, William Printup,

Mary J. Thompson, James M. Ballard, M. A. Thompson, William Henry Fernerden, A.

L. Houston, A. T. Luckie, W. B. Chapman, George W. Thomasson, A. B. Forsyth,

George Tomlinson, J. C. Linthicum, S. T. Downs, J. R. Wallace and T. S. Luckie.

In the subscription list of the next year the following additional names are

noted: D. G. Daniel, Jonathan Norcross, L. C. Simpson, "Miscellany,"

J. W. Evans, W. Buell, R. W. Ballard, David Thurman, H. Matheson, H. A. Fraser,

Thomas Rusk, James McPherson, A. W. Walton, J. V. W. Rhodes, Samuel Wells,

Joseph Thompson, S. Goodall, J. T. Burns, G. M. Troup Perryman, H. C. Holcombe,

Z. A. Rice, George W. Cook, J. Wells, A. W. Wheat, J. W. Demby, W. L. Wright,

H. M. Boyd, Haas & Levi, J. T. Doane, W. H. Wilson, B. F. Bomar, A. E.

Johnson, W. J. Houston, F. Kicklighter, O. Houston, A. L. Houston, J. J. Smith,

William P. Orme, Logan E. Bleckley, A. Wooding, C. H. Yarborough, J. R.

Crawford, R. J. Browne, Lewis Lawshe, W. L. Wingfield and M. J. Ivey.




A mental

glance at the Marthasville in which these men lived and labored will be

interesting before we proceed to the Atlanta period, and a more comprehensive

view of the kind cannot be given that to quote from Wallace Putnam Reed's

description of the town at the time. He says:




"Toward

the close of the Marthasville period the town was laid out, according to

Colonel Z. A. Rice, about as follows: There were four roads — Peachtree,

running in from Peachtree creek; Marietta, coming from the town of that name;

Whitehall, named from a large white house which stood at its terminus in West

End, and Decatur, connecting with that town. These roads met where the artesian

well now stands, and the junction was known as the 'cross-roads.' Whitehall

road then extended to the Decatur and Marietta roads, instead of terminating at

the railroad. On the northwest corner of this junction stood the grocery store

kept by a man named Kile; on the northeast corner was Mr. Wash. Collier's

grocery, containing the post-office; the southwest corner was known as

'Norcross's Corner,' and on it stood a general store owned by Jonathan

Norcross. The southeast corner was vacant. The lot on which the Atlanta hotel

stood was not far from this corner. The hotel was a brick building of two

stories, and the lot on which it stood is now the site of the Kimball House.

Pryor street commenced on the north side of Decatur, and ran out to the woods,

some three or four hundred yards away. Ivy and Butler streets were scarcely

recognizable as streets, as in that part of the town the forest had not been

cleared away. Broad street commenced at Marietta and ran northward to the

woods. Alabama street was a mere country road. The depot or car shed stood

opposite the hotel, and stretched across the ground through which Pryor street

now runs. A little to the northward stood the Central Railroad freight depot,

and a short distance off on the south side were the Georgia Railroad shops and

turn-table. The block fronting the Kimball House at that time ran back to Loyd

street, and was vacant, with the exception of the Western and Atlantic freight

depot, which faced Decatur street on the corner of Loyd, and a railroad track

which ran across the lot to the depot. It was in the middle of this lot that

the Fillmore pole was raised during a memorable political campaign, and the

ground was sometimes used by circuses. On the lot now occupied by the Markham

House, facing Loyd street, was the Washington Hall, a hotel kept first by James

Loyd, and afterwards by Rice & Holcombe. Next to this stood Robert Clarke's

grocery store. Back of the post-office, on the corner of Decatur and Peachtree

streets, was a bar-room, a tin-shop kept by Moses Formwalt — the first

manufacturing enterprise of the kind in the place — and several grocery stores.

Alabama street had a store or two, but there was nothing more. On the corner of

Broad and Marietta was a cotton warehouse owned by Colonel Rice's father.

Nobody predicted that Marthasville would ever be a great city, and real estate

commanded low prices. The Inman lot, on the southwest corner of Forsyth and

Mitchell streets, then contained four acres, and extended to the railroad.

Judge John Collier offered seventy-five dollars an acre for it, and was about

to complete the purchase, when the owner demanded eighty dollars an acre. The

judge thereupon declined to buy. The place is now easily worth about

$40,000."




The

Atlanta Hotel was the first pretentious building erected in Marthasville. The

need of a hostelry of some size and a dignity commensurate with the town's

ambitions was felt by every loyal Marthasvillan, and after the Georgia Railroad

had made the destiny of the place doubly sure, that enterprising corporation

set about to build the long talked of new hotel. The bulk of the work was done

in 1846, and the hotel was given its name before the name of the town was

changed by act of the legislature. The two-story brick structure with its broad,

rambling galleries of the ante-bellum style stood as a prophetic monument of

the city that was to be. It had two entrances, one on Pryor street and one on

Wall street, and its appearance was rather imposing. It stood in the midst of a

park which until after the war was a favorite loitering place of leisurely

citizens and strangers. Dr. Thompson, the father of Joseph Thompson, was the

landlord of the Atlanta Hotel. He soon purchased the property, paying, it is

said, $10,000 for the building and the whole square. The Washington Hall, kept

by James Loyd, divided the hotel patronage of the town with the more handsome

Atlanta Hotel. It was a large wooden building, to which additions had been made

to accommodate the growing trade. As hotel caste went, Washington Hall did not

grade as high as the Atlanta Hotel.




The

religious people of Marthasville were active in providing themselves suitable

places of worship. The Methodists built a comfortable and rather commodious

frame structure near the spot on which the First Methodist church is located.

This pioneer church was known as Wesley Chapel, and it was for years the scene

of fervent devotional exercises such as only the old-time disciples of John

Wesley enjoyed. There was "powerful preaching" in the little sanctuary

in those days. Before Wesley Chapel was built the Methodists had had to resort

to a cotton warehouse on Wheat street to find room for the large congregations

that attended quarterly meetings and revivals. The Baptists were little behind

the Methodists in building their own house of worship. The lot at the corner of

North Forsyth and Walton streets, now occupied by the First Baptist church, was

purchased in 1847, and by the following summer the congregation was worshipping

in a neat little wooden church. The Presbyterians did not begin the erection of

their church building until 1850, in the meantime continuing to hold regular

services in the schoolhouse and private buildings. About the same time several

fraternal societies were organized. Atlanta Lodge of Masons, No. 59. was

organized April 13, 1846, and on the 3rd of May following Mount Zion Chapter,

No. 16, was chartered. Even the names of the secret societies that flourished

in those days are almost forgotten.




In

contrast to the moral side of life in Marthasville, it is probably no

exaggeration to say that there was not a "tougher" town in the state

of Georgia. As the place grew and became more distinctively a railroad center,

the vices common to rough frontier settlements in all times held high carnival.

Drinking resorts, gambling dives and brothels were run "wide open,"

and what is commonly known as the "sporting" element were insolent in

their defiance of public order and decency. The block on Decatur street,

between Peachtree and Pryor, was given over to this unsavory ilk. The locality

was known as Murrell's Row, so-called in honor (?) of a notorious Tennessee

outlaw of that day, whose exploits were the favorite theme of conversation

among the semi-outlaws of the quarter. Crimes and misdeeds worthy of the wild

Murrell were supposed to comport with the ethics of the habitués of Murrell's

Row. It does not appear, however, that any grave crimes were committed by these

"rowdies" during the period that the place was known as Marthasville.

The first homicide did not occur until sometime in 1848, when a man by the name

of Mc Williams was stabbed and killed by one Bill Terrell, who made good his

escape. The chief amusement of the Murrellites was cock-fighting. There were

several cock-pits in the rear of the block, and some of the fights held therein

attracted hundreds of spectators. The low wooden shanties of the quarter, many

of them built of rough slabs, harbored all kinds of games of chance, and some

of them were downright robber's dens. Nearly every other building was a

groggery, in which drunken rows were of almost hourly occurrence. On Saturday

nights it was common to have free-for-all fights that assumed the proportions

of a riot.




It

follows that some restraints were necessary to hold in check such an unruly

class, and these were inadequately found in the local courts, which made a show

of punishing the worst offenders. A little slab calaboose stood on the corner

of Alabama and Pryor streets, which place of confinement was always full of

culprits — between deliveries. Every day or two there was a delivery. Sometimes

the prisoners would burrow out, and sometimes they would simply turn the frail

structure over by main strength and walk back to Murrell's Row without

molestation. Once, when a general row had packed the calaboose with

"rowdies," the comrades of the prisoners visited the jail at night

and lifted it off its foundation, holding it suspended while the inmates

crawled from under. It was found necessary to build a larger and safer jail,

which was done on Broad street, then known as Market street, near the railroad

embankment, there being no bridge in those days. Incarceration was never for a

long period, and fines were rarely paid. When the jail became too full to admit

a fresh batch of offenders, those who had been in the longest were taken out

and given a good strapping on the bare back, after which they were allowed to

go free. The arts of the "black-leg," while perhaps not as subtle as

now, were plied with continuous success by confidence men who rendezvoused in

Murrell's Row.




The

post-office was kept in Collier's store, at the junction of Peachtree and

Decatur streets, at the beginning of Murrell's Row. Floor space was at a

premium after the town began to grow in earnest, and in order to make room for the

post-office. Mr. Collier partitioned off one-half of a rickety long porch that

ran the length of his building, with the delivery window in such a position

that people who called for the mail were not required to enter the store. It

would ordinarily be supposed that an enterprising merchant who kept the

post-office would make the most of the opportunity to attract the public to his

store; but the extent to which a post-office was frequented a half a century

ago, must be taken into account. There was no free delivery and a large part of

the population of country towns seemed to have little else to do than wait for

their mail. Many were chronic loafers and gossips, and it is easy to understand

how their habitual presence in a small store would be anything but an incentive

to trade. Mr. Collier solved the problem with his porch office. He did not

allow himself to be disturbed before the mail arrived, or while sorting it, but

when the latter task was done and the expectant crowd was assembled on the porch,

he took the letters one by one. and called out the names of those to whom they

were addressed, disposing of the bulk of the mail in this fashion. When a man's

name was called he answered "Here," and pushed through the crowd to

receive his mail.




In the

rear of the post-office there was a bar-room, and Moses Formwalt had a tin shop

next door. Mr. Formwalt, who was the first mayor of Atlanta, did a flourishing

business in the manufacture of stills, and his manufactured tin articles had a

large sale throughout north Georgia. Edwin Payne, father of Columbus Payne, ran

a sawmill, he and a negro slave furnishing the motive power to the saw. This

primitive factory-made safes, tables, and other articles of household, office

and store furniture. About this time Martin & Thurman started a gun

factory.




The

first brick house to be built after the Atlanta Hotel was a block of brick

stores erected on their centrally located property by I. O. and P. C. McDaniel.

I. O. McDaniel was the father of Governor McDaniel. Richard Peters was

considered the wealthiest citizen of Marthasville. His residence at the corner

of Forsyth and Peters street, a roomy, weather-boarded structure, was regarded

as palatial at that time. Mr. Peters owned and conducted a steam mill on the

present site of the Georgia Railroad shops. It was a very advanced enterprise

for the time, and consumed a tremendous amount of pine fuel. Mr. Peters bought

four hundred and five acres of close-in land on what is now the heart of the

Peachtree section, for $1,200, for the express purpose of using the timber for

fuel for his engine. He lived to see his land worth fancy front-foot prices,

some of it bringing approximately $75,000 an acre, as parceled off.




Wallace

Putnam Reed relates a little incident of Marthasville progress which may be

taken as characteristic of the place and time: "Mr. Crusselle had the

contract for building the old State Road stone freight depot, which used to

stand in the block in which the office of the Southern Express company now stands,

very near the present passenger depot. When Mr. Crusselle finished the depot,

he was jubilant, and endeavored to demonstrate that fact to the town by a grand

treat. Accordingly he bought a barrel of Georgia planter's corn whiskey, a half

a barrel of brandy, and a box of Virginia tobacco, which he dealt out liberally

to the citizens. He says that almost everyone got drunk, the fighting became

general, and some of them attempted to turn over the town, but they did not

succeed."




Reminiscences

of the settlers of the Marthasville period are by no means common. There are

plenty of the early days of Atlanta proper, but Marthasville has almost faded

from human memory. In view of this fact, it is appropriate here that some

extracts be given from the '"talks" of the surviving pioneers who met

in the National Hotel, in the spring of 1884, at a banquet given by D. N.

Sloan, the first telegraph operator in Atlanta, to the surviving pioneers of

nearly twenty years ago.




On that

occasion, Lewis H. Clarke said: "When I first came here it was a thicket —

all woods. We had to haul goods in wagons from Madison. That was the spring of

1844. On the first day of April of that year, I was clerking for Collins &

Loyd, who had opened a brand-new store. It was the first store ever opened here.

That night. Painter Smith, A. B. Forsyth, Hack & Bryant, and several other

who made up the sum and substance of the town, serenaded us with tin pans and

horns. In the fall we hauled our goods from Social Circle, and in the spring of

1845 we hauled them from Covington. When the first train arrived I was

assistant postmaster with Mr. F. C. Orme, who, when he resigned, suggested

Atlanta as a good name for the place."




Thomas

G. Crusselle said: "When I came here there was no town. About 1840 we

built a log cabin near where the car shed stands. In 1843 we moved a

story-and-a-half house from Boltonville, on two freight cars, and I rode on top

of the cars across the Chattahoochee river. I thought that it was about the

highest ride I had ever had. The following year Bob Clarke came here and we

serenaded him with tin pans when he opened his store. We had a habit then, in

election times, of gathering the voters in the biggest room in town and keeping

them there all night. On election morning we marched them to the polls to vote.

We were all Democrats then, until the Know-Nothings came along. Some of them

went with them, but we all got back to the old party again."




I. O.

McDaniel said that he remembered seeing, in 1845, the shanties here that were

built of the slabs turned out by Norcross's sawmill. In 1847 he erected some

buildings here. In 1848 he moved to the place. In the early city councils he

was chairman of the committee on streets, and he recollected that, in 1849,

when he asked for the appropriation for the streets, he fixed the entire amount

needed at $600. The total expenses for the town that year were $1,400.




Colonel

L. P. Grant said: "I was one of the party which located the line of the

Georgia Railroad to Atlanta in 1840. Work was suspended on account of the

financial trouble, and I went to the Central Railroad. I returned, however, in

1843, and revised the location of the Georgia road. We commenced grading the

road in 1843, and from that time to the present I have been connected with

Atlanta."




David

Mayer said he came to the place in 1847, with a stock of goods, intending to

locate, but could not find any town. He saw only a few shanties, became

discouraged, and shipped his goods away. A year later he saw his mistake and

returned to stay.


















 




 




CHAPTER VI. SOME FURTHER REMINISCENCES




 




There is

a story concerning some threatened land litigation of the Marthasville period

that is worth relating here, however oft-repeated. Originally the land on which

Atlanta was built was a part of the great body of wild land of the Georgia

frontier which was disposed of to intending settlers upon very liberal

conditions, the quarter sections being selected by lottery, as was done in the

Cherokee reserve. It seems that in one of these early lotteries a man named

Beckman was the fortunate drawer of the land on which the center of the city of

Atlanta was built. Beckman lived at the time on Cedar Creek, in Putnam county,

and was a carpenter by trade. He boarded with a man named Mitchell, with whom

he made a deal to the effect that Mitchell was to own the land drawn by

Beckman's number, in case any was drawn. The drawing took place in due time,

and the number held in Beckman's name drew the land in question. Shortly

thereafter Beckman died. When the State Road's engineer selected this land as

the most desirable spot for the terminus, as directed by the railroad bill, the

governor of Georgia opened a correspondence with Mitchell, to whom the Beckman

lot had been presumably assigned, proposing to purchase a few acres for the

site of the necessary terminal buildings and facilities. Mitchell expressed his

unwillingness to dispose of any considerable portion of his holding, but

generously donated to the state, through the governor, the amount of land

required for the purpose specified. Mitchell then went ahead and endeavored to

make the most of the speculative possibilities of the situation. He subdivided

his claim into town lots, and as has been stated heretofore, had public

auctions in order to dispose of the realty. In the course of time he made a

number of transfers, and what there was of the town was built on land he had

sold.




Just

when Marthasville was beginning to flourish, like lightning out of a clear sky

came the intelligence that the land bought from Mitchell was in dispute, the

entire tract having been publicly advertised for sale by Allen E. Johnson,

administrator of the estate of the deceased Beckman. It appears, from the

meagre information on the subject now at hand, that something like a conspiracy

was formed by a few local speculators, led by Johnson, to profit by the setting

aside of Mitchell's alleged title. They discovered, somehow, that Mitchell did

not possess the original deed from Beckman, but held what purported to be a

copy of the deed. Learning that Beckman had been dead some years, the Johnson

party boldly charged that he had died before the land was drawn in the lottery,

and, therefore, could not have given Mitchell a valid deed to the property. It

is superfluous to say that excitement ran high among the denizens of the little

town when this state of affairs became known.




Mitchell

stood squarely behind those who had purchased lots from him, averring that his

title was perfect. He explained the absence of the original deed by saying it

was burned by the fire that had destroyed the courthouse at Decatur, with all

its legal papers and records. He claimed that when Beckman made the deed he had

taken the precaution to have a copy made and properly attested, forwarding the

original to the proper county official at Decatur. In this contingency the

exact date of Beckman's death was of vital importance, and the desired

information could not be obtained by correspondence with the county authorities

of Putnam county. The lot-holders who held under the Mitchell deed, therefore,

held a meeting and selected I. O. McDaniel and A. W. Mitchell, of their number,

as a committee to journey to Putnam county and secure every available fact

bearing on Beckman's death and drawing of the Terminus land.




Messrs.

McDaniel and Mitchell went to the Cedar Creek settlement in Putnam county and

interviewed all of the former neighbors and acquaintances of Beckman. Nobody

could state positively when he died. His grave was unmarked, and there was no

mortuary record obtainable to throw light on the disputed matter. When about to

return to Marthasville, baffled in their mission, the committeemen came across

a man who taught school in the vicinity of a house Beckman was working on as a

carpenter. This school master remembered distinctly that a bridge was being built

by the county across Cedar Creek at the same time Beckman was working on the

new house nearby. He said he passed Beckman at work, and crossed the new

bridge, every day, for some time. The county records at Eatonton were carefully

inspected, and it was found that the bridge in question was built the year

after the lottery drawing participated in by Beckman had been held. Armed with

this gratifying information, Messrs. McDaniel and Mitchell returned to

Marthasville and made their report to a meeting called to receive it.




After

hearing the report of their committee, the citizens interested determined to

oppose, in every way possible, the plan of the Johnson party to sell the

Mitchell tract. The Johnson party disclaimed any intention of interfering with

the title of the particular lots that had passed from the possession of

Mitchell, claiming that it was their object to secure possession of only that

portion of the Beckman holding that had not been sold by Mitchell's agent.

Mitchell was at the time a resident of Zebulon, Pike county. These

protestations did not satisfy the innocent purchasers, and they declared they

would fight any procedure whose tendency was indubitably to throw a cloud upon

their title. Indeed, there were some hot-heads who swore the sale, if it was

attempted, would be broken up by force. The feeling between the two parties at

interest was very bitter, and as the day advertised for the sale drew near, it

was evident that trouble of a serious nature was brewing. The Johnson party was

in the minority, numerically, and it was freely predicted that a riot would be

precipitated at the sale as a pretext for giving those of them who were present

a severe drubbing.




The sale

was held at the courthouse in Decatur, the sheriff who conducted it and the administrator

of the Beckman estate who instigated it, being one and the same man.

Practically every man in Marthasville went over to Decatur, and they went

prepared for trouble. An immense crowd assembled in front of the courthouse. An

attorney was present to represent Mitchell's estate, Mitchell being dead. The

opponents of the sale, who were out in force, were well organized. They had

selected Tom Crusselle to raise every bid made on the property, and had

instructed him to never weary in bidding.




Sheriff

Johnson took his place on the courthouse steps at the appointed hour, and after

reading the notice of sale, proceeded to call for bids. A member of his party

responded, and Crusselle promptly "raised" him. The bids followed

quick and fast. Crusselle seemed to enjoy fulfilling his cue and bore himself

like a man of millions. It was soon evident to the sale party that the antis

were filibustering, and indignant protests were heard. Sheriff Johnson took the

Crusselle bids in seeming good part and the price was run up quickly to

extravagant figures. When the representative of the Mitchell party called out

$25,000, he turned to his followers and remarked with a twinkle in his eye that

he reckoned it would take all of his yellow cotton to raise the amount. As the

day wore away, it was evident that the farce would be interminable, and,

besides, the crowd was dropping its playful humor and getting ugly. Many of the

spectators had been drinking all day, and there was a display of weapons by the

most boisterous of them. The close of the sale hours arrived, and still

Crusselle bid on. The confused babel of angry voices was heard, interspersed

with threatening shouts and oaths. The big crowd surged wildly as weapons were

flourished, and a shot or blow would have precipitated a bloody riot. The

Mitchell crowd were clearly there to have trouble.




At this

juncture Sheriff Johnson stopped calling for bids and drew his lawyer to one

side in earnest consultation. He announced that the sale would be called off,

if the Mitchell lot-holders would make some little concession to the Beckman

claimants. The lawyer of the Mitchell estate and some of the leaders of the

citizens on that side conferred with the Johnson party till long after dark,

and the result was a compromise satisfactory to all concerned. The heirs of the

Mitchell estate gave the other side two acres, located in the choicest part of

the disputed tract, and paid the cost of the litigation incurred by the latter.

By agreement, the land was later sold by Johnson, as administrator of Beckman,

to the Mitchell heirs, as a mere act of legal formality, in order that the

disputed claim be forever settled. They were given a deed in due and proper

form by Johnson, and what threatened bloodshed and a serious drawback to the

growth of Marthasville was happily averted.




The

depot and old city park site which were deeded by Samuel Mitchell to the state

were included in this litigation, of course, and some anxiety was felt by the

state and railroad officials as to the outcome. The park consisted of the block

bounded by Wall, Decatur, Loyd and Pryor streets, later the site of the

Republic building, and known as the Republic Block. Sometime after the

sensational attempted sale of all the Mitchell property, the question arose

whether, in the event of the abandonment of the state property for railroad

purposes, the uses for which it was expressly donated by Mitchell, it would not

revert to the Mitchell heirs. The city was intent on buying the block occupied

by the Park, and it was the general opinion that such action would vitiate the

title. To prevent such a contingency, a compromise was made with the Mitchell

heirs, by which they renounced all possible future claims.




George

G. Smith, for many years identified with Atlanta of the old days, gives some

interesting reminiscences of his recollections of the town a few months before

it was incorporated as the city of Atlanta. Mr. Smith says:




"My

father, Dr. George G. Smith, removed from Oxford to Atlanta in June of 1847,

and the family, of which I was one, followed him in October. On Saturday night,

October 15th, 1847, we landed at the old Washington Hall, kept by James Loyd,

located where is now the Markham House block. There were then two hotels in

Atlanta. The Atlanta Hotel, a brick building, stood on the lot now occupied by

the Kimball House. The Washington Hall was a long, rambling house of wood. The

bar was in the front room, and in the dining room the long table was spread as

in the olden time. The viands were put before you and you helped yourself.




"On

Sunday morning my good mother sent five of us to the first Sunday school. It

was superintended by O. H. Hunston, a most excellent Presbyterian, then a

book-keeper for Jonathan Norcross. It was a union school, and the only one, I

believe, in the then village of Atlanta. The school room was a plain, unceiled,

unpainted house, about 30 by 15 feet, on the lot near what now is the First

Methodist church. There was at this time no church in the town.




"During

the summer my father had, in connection with Neddy Payne, Stephen Terry and

James Collins, entered upon a protracted meeting, and Bishop Andrew, Dr.

Longstreet, George W. Lane and Dr. Means had spent several days in Atlanta

preaching in a warehouse belonging to Hey Wheat, on what is now Wheat street.

This was the only place where service was held, until the cold weather drove us

to the little schoolhouse room, and it was here that I listened to the first

sermon that I heard in Atlanta, preached by the Rev. John Thurman, a Methodist

Protestant.




"On

Monday, in company with Jim and Johnnie Loyd and Joel Kelsey, I set out to

explore the new town. It seemed to me immense. It was set down in the woods,

and houses of many shapes and sizes were among the trees. There was Slabtown,

straggling down toward Decatur. There was a right busy center where Peachtree,

Marietta and Decatur streets join, where Jonathan Norcross had his store, and

where George W. Collier had his post-office, and nearby Moses Formwalt had his

two shops and Clark Powell and Tom Kile their well-patronized grog-shops. Old

Daniel Dougherty, a genial, warm-hearted Irishman, had a bakery where the

railroad crosses Whitehall street. Where the viaduct is there were no houses,

but beginning at Alabama street there was an almost unbroken line of wooden

stores to Mitchell. A line of small shops and stores was on the north side of

Decatur street down to Loyd. The workshops of the railroads were near what is

now the union depot. The three railroad depots were close together, the Georgia

where it now is, the Macon and Western west of the present station, and the

Western and Atlantic depot on what is now the Brown block. There was but one

brick house in the town — the Atlanta Hotel.




"Marietta

street had only one building of two stories. I went first to Odell's horse

mill. A team of lean horses were moving in a ring and turning a circular saw,

which was sawing up pines from the woods around. The celebrated Walton Spring,

on what is now Spring street, was a beautiful spring of freestone water which

Mr. A. W. Walton, who owned it, had provided with an enclosure of granite

slabs, and the water came deliciously cool through a trough of granite. The

Mineral Spring, or Chalybeate spring was near the Southern passenger depot.

This was a favorite resort of the townsfolk. There was also a fine spring on

Alabama street, near where G. and T. Dodd have their store, and a very bold one

where the Methodist Protestant church now is. A merry brook made its way

through a deep dell across Alabama street, going west.




"The

homes in the town were nearly all of one story, but there were a few with two.

There were still a great many log cabins scattered in all directions. As there

was no pavement anywhere, and as the mud was something fearful, plank sidewalks

had been laid in front of the stores on Whitehall street. The First Methodist

and First Baptist churches were in course of erection, neither of them at that

time even covered. The Methodists, after their house was covered, floored and

the window sash put in, were forced to stop for want of funds. The Baptists

went on with their work, and this was the first finished church in the city,

but months before this was done the Methodists were occupying the shell they

had erected. The pews were purchased from the sawmill, and the pulpit desk was

my father's prescription table. My brother and I were the sextons. There was no

hall in the town, and when the meeting was called to petition for a charter, it

met in the old Wheat store, at that time the doctor's shop of Martin &

Smith. There was a drinking saloon near where the Lamar drug store is now, and

the calaboose was on the nude land about opposite, near the Georgia railroad

shops.




"There

was a great deal of wagon trade. I have seen Whitehall street so thronged with

wagons, from Mitchell to Alabama, that one could with difficulty cross the

street. The grain came down Peachtree street, and was largely bought by

Jonathan Norcross, and the cotton came through Whitehall. The McDaniels, A. W.

Mitchell and E. J. Hulsey were erecting the first brick block in the city, at

the corner of Whitehall and Hunter.




"There

were two schoolhouses, one near the First Methodist and one near the Protestant

Methodist church, for the two sections of the town. There was the Enterprise

and the Commercial, and now came the Miscellany, weekly papers. The only school

then in the city was taught by Dr. W. H. Fonerder, a Baptist preacher. My

mother opened the first select female school about the first of January, 1848.

The city was incorporated in the latter part of 1847, and the first election

for mayor held in the early part of 1848."




''The

first two years after we came the cotton trade was very large, for the West

Point railway had not been opened. There was much trade from eastern Alabama in

food products. I have bought delicious venison hams from these Alabama wagons

for twenty-five cents each.




"There

was no exclusively dry goods store, nor were any of the departments of trade,

except heavy groceries, confined to a single article. The stores sold

everything to eat or wear, except the one drug store and the one bookstore.

Things to eat were very cheap. Eggs were 8 cents a dozen; chickens, 2 cents

apiece; butter from 10 to 12 ½ cents per pound. I have seen good sweet potatoes

sold as low as 15 cents a bushel. No coal was burned, not even on the railways,

and the streets were thronged with wood wagons. Wood was sold at 50 cents a

load — about $1,50 a cord. The streets were in execrable condition all winter

and summer. I have seen a three-horse wagon, almost empty, stalled where the

viaduct now is.




"The

whole mountain country poured its produce into the few stores near what was

known as the Norcross corner. Cotton was bought by street buyers. Armed with

their sharp gimlets they sampled the bags, and each one made his pass; the

buyer would give the seller a ticket, to be given to John F. Mims, the agent of

the Georgia Railroad and Banking Company, and he would pay for the cotton, and

the buyer, who was frequently merely buying for a commission of 50 cents a

bale, would draw on the Charleston or Augusta factor and repay the agency.




"It

was a stirring time; everybody was busy; all the boys were at work. Henry

McDaniel, afterward governor, and, I think, Bill Hulsey, afterward ordinary,

used to carry brick in the brick yard, and I used to peddle books at the depot.

I was the forerunner of all the army of news butchers.




"There

were then in Atlanta the Peachtree road, Whitehall street, Alabama street,

Hunter, Mitchell, Loyd, Pryor, Marietta, Walton and Decatur streets. These were

the only streets laid off at that time, and they were then filled with stumps,

and the first work of the new city administration was to have the stumps dug

up. The brick yards were on all sides of the city. Few places had more gushing

fountains than Atlanta, and a fine body of red clay was under the surface.

Labor was abundant and cheap, and so was wood, and in every direction there

were yards where a poor horse ground the clay with a wheel. Not a few of the

substantial men of the city made their start carrying bricks at twenty-five

cents a day.




"There

was much gambling in the town, and 'professionals' were in great force. They were

not even secret in their games, and I have seen the money on the table as they

handled the 'papes,' as they called the cards. After the city was fairly

officered, they were a little more hidden in their proceedings. There was no

small amount of lawlessness of all kinds. One night some burglars broke into

the store of a Scotchman named Frazier and stole a wagon-load of goods and

carted them away. The thieves were caught and the goods recovered. A band of

thieves carried on a long and extensive robbery of the cars, and some prominent

persons were involved.




"The

superior court was held at Decatur, and the only court held in Atlanta was the

old justice's court of Major Buell. After him, the magistrate was Squire Shaw,

father of my old friend, Gus Shaw, the Broad street commission merchant. The

first law case I ever saw tried was in a then vacant store-house, near the

railroad crossing on Whitehall street. His honor was sitting in awful dignity,

munching a ginger cake.




"In

1847 Atlanta had one brick house in it, but in 1848 it had a score. The first

private dwelling of brick, as I remember, was Dr. Austin's, built in 1848 on

Marietta street, and near that time Judge Julius Hayden built the second. The

first hall in Atlanta was over McDaniel's store. The first foundry was

Dunning's. The first car shop and machine shop was Joseph Winship's.




"The

Masonic lodge was already established and my father joined the Masons in the

summer of that year. The Odd Fellows, I think, came the next year. They had a

hall near the Masonic lodge. The Sons of Temperance had a division the last of

1847, and my father was the first worthy patriarch. It flourished for several

years.




"The

Catholics began their church, I think, in 1848. It was located on Loyd street,

near where it stands now. They had a regular priest as soon as their house was

finished. I do not remember the first Catholic priest, but I remember very well

the courtly and classic James F. O'Neill, who was in charge at a later day.

Father Matthew came to Atlanta, and I heard him deliver a temperance speech. A

good many joined his society, but I am afraid their adherence was not long

continued.




''The

Baptists, who had the first completed church in the city, had regular Sunday

services from the middle of 1848. The Methodists, after using their puncheon

seats for a few months, succeeded in getting the church supplied with plain

pews. I remember my father raised the money — about $80 — by subscriptions of

one dollar each. As old Jacob Johnson, the first painter, was a member, I think

the church was painted then. When Willis Peck moved to Atlanta, he plastered the

church. It had a gallery in it, but one Sunday the gallery fell, and it was not

replaced.




"The

preachers who gave the Methodists service every month were Anderson Ray and

Eustace W. Speer, afterward Dr. Speer, the brilliant and beloved. He was

scarcely of age then, though he was a married man. The next year Rev. John

Yarbrough and Rev. James W. Hinton were pastors, and Dr. Hinton, still living

in Macon, began his ministry here. We had a great many fine preachers to give

occasional service in Atlanta. Dr. Stiles, Bishop Pierce, Dr. Pierce, Dr.

Means, Bishop Elliott, gave us occasional sermons. Dr. J. S. Wilson gave us a

sermon every month, which, as his old hearers will well remember, were stately,

orthodox, able and long. Rev. John W. Yarbrough and Dr. Alex Wynn, father of J.

O. Wynn, of the Prudential Insurance company, were on the circuits which

included Atlanta. A great revival began and over a hundred persons joined the

Methodist church.




"The

city was growing vigorously. It was rather ungainly, but it was vigorous. It

was almost as large as Griffin, and Macon was beginning to notice it. Atlanta,

of course, wanted something after she began to spread, and there were hints

that the capital ought to be moved from Milledgeville; but as Macon clamored

for that, for the time being the Atlanta people said the penitentiary would do.

Apropos of which the Macon paper suggested that a wall around Atlanta and an

appointed keeper would provide admirably for the demand.




"There

had been no grading in those days, and lofty hills were where are now level

highways, and I have found it difficult, and in some places impossible, to

identify in the closely built city the hills on which I gathered wild flowers

and picked chinquepins fifty years ago. All along what was known as the

McDonough road was a long row of one and two-roomed log cabins, owned by very

poor people. From Garnett street westward was a very disreputable section known

as Snake Nation, whose precincts I feared to enter when I was a boy. There was

a small collection of houses on a high hill on Marietta street going toward

Squire Payne's. The graveyard was about where the governor's mansion is, and

here I saw the first interment with the Masonic ritual I ever saw. Oakland

cemetery was secured by the city a little after this, and there were no burials

on Peachtree after that. There was no undertaker and no ready-made coffins. Mr.

Clarke had a cabinet-maker's shop about opposite Trinity church, which met the

demands, and an ordinary wagon was used for a hearse.




"The

Enterprise and The Luminary were the papers in 1847. The Enterprise was owned

by Rough Rice, and The Luminary, which went out about the time we came, by, I

think, a man named Clapp. But in the summer of that year Colonel Cornelius R.

Hanleiter brought the Southern Miscellany from Madison and opened an office in

Atlanta near Loyd street. The colonel was a very good editor, a fine practical

printer, a staunch Episcopalian, and a Whig of the most decided character. In

1847 he polished the first carrier's address issued in Atlanta. It was a

rhyming description of the city written by my father. It was a photograph of

the city as it then was. This address was sold by the sole carrier, now Colonel

William R. Hanleiter.




"The

war with Mexico was now over, and the officers were returning eastward. I was

peddling maps and books at the cars, and was greatly interested in the

returning heroes. I remember General Twiggs, General Shields, and General

Quitman. One of the officers, supposing I was a newsboy, asked me for a New York

paper. I ran over to the Miscellany office and bought all it had, and sold the

first newspaper ever sold in Atlanta. Frank Rice came later than I did, and has

made more money from his literary vendings than I ever did. The old colonel

left the Miscellany for the telegraph office, and then was a mail agent when my

father was postmaster. He had the first job office in Atlanta, published the

first directory and wrote the first history.




"Atlanta

was so central that it became the assembling place for great Southern

conventions. The first I recall was a railway convention in 1847. I remember an

address made at it by a New York merchant named Whitney, who was urging the

people to petition congress to build a railway to the Pacific. As we did not

have California then, he proposed to strike for Oregon. He was sure the road

could be built for $10,000 a mile. In the summer there was a famous temperance

convention. The temperance society of Georgia, with Henry Lumpkin as president,

was making a vigorous movement on the state, and Dabney P. Jones, known

everywhere as Uncle Dabney, was the state lecturer. A convention was called and

Judge R. M. Charlton, of Savannah, was to deliver the address. The best people

in Georgia were present. My father had written me a speech, and I was on the

programme. So, after the judge had spoken, they stood me on the book board and

I made my debut before the great assemblage when I was ten years old. The Hon.

George Hillyer did the same thing at the same place, some two years later. During

the summer, another great convention met. If I am not mistaken, it was on this

occasion that Judge Cone so severely wounded Alexander H. Stevens with his

pocket-knife. Mr. Stephens was taken at once to the home of John F. Minis, on

Alabama street, and was attended, I think, by Dr. Alexander. At the great

Taylor and Fillmore rally he had recovered sufficiently to ride, and the ardent

Whigs took the horses from the carriage and drew the vehicle in which he sat to

the assembling place at Walton Springs. I remember the pale-faced little man as

he rode that day in triumph. They had a great torchlight procession. The

torches were brands of fat lightwood. The transparencies were many and loud. A

cannon had been brought up from Macon and planted on a tongue of land between

the railroad, and, alas! as it was fired, poor D. N. Poore had his arm shot off

by a premature discharge. Poore was an odd character, who belonged to an

excellent family in New York. He was then the keeper of the station, and, I

think, continued such until he died.




"James

Collins was one of the early merchants. He was one of the first Methodists of

Atlanta and one of the best men of his time. He gave the largest gift to build

the First Methodist church. He married Miss Bolton and moved to a fine plantation

at Bolton, then on the Cobb county side of the river. Leonard C. Simpson was

one of the earliest lawyers. Willis Buell, the old squire, was a northern man

and an old bachelor. The Barneses, Mr. Tay and Mr. Spann were railroad

engineers. W. R. Venable was clerk for James Collins, and afterward clerk of

the superior court. Reuben Haynes was an easy-going, pious Methodist carpenter,

and my Sunday school teacher. Haynes street was named for him. Mr. Silvey was a

clerk in the store of one of the Jews with Calvin Hunnicutt. Ed Warner, long

agent of the Georgia Railroad, was a clerk for A. B. Forsyth and an inmate of

his home. William Rushton was the first master mechanic in Atlanta, a

red-headed Englishman who had some pretty daughters who went to my mother's

school. Old Dad Chapman was a character. He was a professional gambler and made

no concealment of it. He was always neatly dressed, well behaved, a thorough

gentleman in his manners, but he lived on the profits of his skill at cards.

Nat Mangum and his brother Robert were sons of old Uncle Billy, who came from

South Carolina. Nat was a lawyer, and a great wag. He went into Fannin county

and tried to develop a copper mine. My dear old friend, Logan Bleckley, who,

save for his gray hair, looks about as young now as he did fifty years ago, was

a clerk in the State road office. Old John Weaver was the patriarch of the

engine men. Dr. Hilburn, who was killed by his brother-in-law, Elijah Bird, was

our first dentist. Greene B. Pilgrim was our first sexton, a worthy man in

every way. Ike, who is still living, was a printer's apprentice. A hypnotist

gave a show. He had engaged Ike to be mesmerized, and, sure enough, the

vivacious Isaac went properly to sleep, after the passes were made, and then he

followed implicitly the mesmerizer's directions. He did as he was bidden, sung,

played the fiddle, swam, and at last the hypnotist gave him a short rod and

bade him fish; and Ike fished diligently, and caught a fish, as he was

directed. Presently he caught a big one, as the mesmerizer said he would.

'That's a cat,' said the sleeping youth. I decided that 'that's a cat' had

given Ike away.




"James

McPherson, my worthy employer, was the first bookseller in Atlanta. He was a

man of unusual intelligence and enterprise. He died suddenly in Savannah while

clerk of the United States court. John F. Minis was the first agent of the

Georgia railroad and the first bank agent. The Meads were among the first

settlers and so were the Downs. Pete Emmell was Dougherty's baker, and was afterwards

a famous saloon keeper. Monkey Baker, a German, had a little shop near West End

and a garden, and kept guinea pigs and had a monkey. R. W. Williamson was the

first agent of the Macon and Western railroad. L. P. Grant was an engineer of

the Georgia road. He and John T. Grant were partners in railroad building. He

was one of the staunchest men that ever lived. L. P. Grant, Richard Peters and

John Collier would have been ornaments to any community where integrity was at

a premium. Jonas S. Smith, an impulsive, funny, fearless, warm-hearted

merchant, was the successor of George W. Collier as postmaster. He gave way for

my father, who succeeded him in 1851."


















 




 




CHAPTER VII. THE CHRISTENING OF ATLANTA




 




In the

latter part of 1846, after three railroads had made their terminal points in

Marthasville, and, as we have seen, the population of the village had trebled

and the place become bustling with progress, another agitation for a change of

name was begun by a number of the leading citizens, who evidently felt that no

town could ever aspire to cityhood handicapped by such a rustic name as

Marthasville. Among some of the most progressive spirits, the unfortunate name

was treated as a joke, affording play for sarcasm. The people who were there now

would never have called any cross-roads with hopes by such a name, and it was

soon manifest that sentiment was a unit for a change. The need of a city

charter was also felt, if for no other reason than to better control the

troublesome riff-raff of Murrell's Row and "Snake Nation."

Accordingly, the legislature of that winter was petitioned for a charter, under

the new name of Atlanta. There is some controversy as to who has the honor of

having first suggested the name of the future metropolis. It is generally given

to J. Edgar Thompson, then chief engineer of the Georgia Railroad, who, in a

letter to Richard Peters, of Marthasville, is said to have urged the propriety

of a change of name and suggested Atlanta as both euphonious and appropriate.

Mr. Peters accepted the suggestion with enthusiasm and being a man of wealth

and local influence was instrumental in having many of his fellow townsmen do

the same. F. C. Orme, a former postmaster of the place, claimed that he coined

the word Atlanta and was the first to offer it as a suitable name for the city

in embryo. Be this as it may, the word Atlanta was on every tongue before the

charter was applied for, and as evidence that the name had been tacitly

adopted, the Sunday school was called the Atlanta Union Sabbath school before

the town had the legal right to the name, and the same is true of the new

Atlanta Hotel. The meaning of the name was obvious to everybody at that time.

The purpose of the founding of Terminus, nearly ten years before, was to afford

a commercial highway, or rather, a series of highways, between the great

Mississippi Valley and the Atlantic seaboard. The name Atlanta, in the

estimation of its early residents, stood for the accomplishment of that

momentous project.




There

was, however, a very decided hostility by some of the citizens to assuming the

increased expenses and responsibilities through municipal incorporation, and

when the more progressive faction sent a committee over to Milledgeville to

present the petition to the legislature and have a bill in compliance thereto

introduced, the opposition was on hand with a strong lobby to smother the

measure. The incorporation bill, carrying with it the change of name, went over

till the next session. In the meantime the citizens of Marthasville repudiated

that name and wrote and spoke of their town as Atlanta. The local newspapers

came out under Atlanta date lines, and the railroad companies adopted the new

name on their timetables and maps.




On

December 29, 1847, tne general assembly passed an act framed by Judge Collier,

incorporating the "City of Atlanta," a portion of the act reading as

follows:




"An

act to amend an act entitled an act to incorporate the town of Marthasville, in

the county of DeKalb, passed December 23, 1843, and also to enlarge the

boundaries of said town, and to incorporate the same under the name of Atlanta,

etc."




"Section

1. Be it enacted, etc., that from and after the passage of this act, the town

of Marthasville shall be known as and called the city of Atlanta, and the

authority and jurisdiction of the said city shall extend one mile from the

State depot in every direction.




"Section

2. Be it enacted that within sixty days after the passage of this act, by

giving two days' notice, and on the third Monday in every January thereafter,

all free white persons, citizens residing within the incorporate limits of said

city, who shall be entitled to vote for members of the legislature of said

state, shall be entitled to vote for a mayor and six members of the city council,

in lieu and stead of the commissioners, as is provided in the act to which this

is amendatory; and that the person or persons legally entitled to vote at said

election shall be eligible for mayor or members of the city council, at which

election one justice of the inferior court, or of the peace, and two

freeholders, neither of whom being a candidate, shall preside, and the person

receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared elected; that the

managers of said election shall give certificates to that effect, which shall

be the highest evidence of their election and authority to act, and be recorded

by the clerk of the city council in a book to be kept for that purpose, which

record shall be held and esteemed as the highest evidence of their

election."




In

section 6 the mayor and city council are required to elect a city marshal, and

if they deemed it necessary, a deputy marshal or marshals, a clerk of the

council, and a treasurer.




Under

section 9 it is provided that the mayor and four members of the council should

form a quorum to transact all business, and that the mayor and each member of

the council should be, to all intents and purposes, a justice of the peace, so

far as to enable them, or any of them, to issue warrants for offenses committed

within the corporate limits of the city, which warrants were required to be

executed by the city marshal, or a deputy marshal, and to commit to the jail of

the county of DeKalb, or to admit to bail, offenders, for appearance before the

next term of the superior court thereafter, for the county of DeKalb, etc.




In

accordance with the provisions of the organic act. a city election was held in

the city of Atlanta for the first time on the 29th of the following January.

Below is reproduced the entry of the city clerk on the official records,

concerning the result of the election: 




 




"Georgia,

DeKalb County:




"We,

Edwin G. Collier, a justice of the peace, and Patterson M. Hodge and Francis M.

Gray, who are freeholders, and who were managers at the election for mayor and

members of the council of the city of Atlanta, and neither of whom being

candidates, do certify that said election was held on Saturday, the 29th day of

January, 1848, and that Moses W. Formwalt received the highest number of votes

for mayor, and was declared duly elected.




"Given

under our hands and seals this 31st day of January, 1848.




"E.

G. Collier, J. P. (Seal). 




"P.

M. Hodge, (Seal).




"F.

M. Gray, (Seal)."




 




The

entry touching the election of the first city council is as follows: 
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